>

TR A PR w]
HANDS FORM HOEDINGSLIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands. mth.hmmzd.halzlbgz)_l_.._ .___.., ,_._‘__._._._'_E__ J=

(B W 43 T A it W A R 1 T T

StockCodeﬂﬁ'ﬁ?N% 1920 — '--—-; ';-—'—13 | i“—"J -_'I , T| o _i;:_'

v

ANNUAL REPORT
A it




Contents
Ek>

14
31

36
49

/0

Corporate Information

NAER

Chairman’s Statement

TEWRE

Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE T ENT

Report of the Directors

EERHE

Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management

EENEREEERE

Corporate Governance Report
PEERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance
Report
IRIR - B RERWE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZ B S

79
30
31

32
33

164

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

FeaEakEMEmRER

Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

AR

Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity
IREERBER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

IVT (= Iﬁ;%/}lhi%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

A MBS HRAR MR

Financial Summary

MG RE




v U

=== Corporate Information

4

ANCIN- )

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam  (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung
Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Audit Committee

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (Chairman)

Mr. Lo Chi Hung
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (Chairman)

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Nomination Committee

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam  (Chairman)

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen
Mr. Lo Chi Hung
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Company Secretary
Mr. Tsui Chun Hung

Authorised Representatives

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Mr. Tsui Chun Hung

Registered Office in the Cayman Islands

Clifton House

75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

2 Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2019

EEE
HITES
REMsE (ERERTTBAH)
i HBsE
BRH L

BYFHITES
AL E
(G e

BREEE

ST P (/%)
B

A EEE e

HWEEE

oo S (£/)
S E L

fAEAEsE

REZEE
REEE (/%)
ST Pk

B

B

DNEMWE
B

REAR
REBEE
B

FEREEMRSEE

Clifton House

75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands



Headquarters and Principal Place of
Business In Hong Kong

Room 9, 2/F

Hang Bong Commercial Centre

28 Shanghai Street

Jordan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
in Cayman Islands

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Clifton House

75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road

North Point, Hong Kong

Compliance Adviser

Grande Capital Limited
Room 2701, 27/F, Tower 1
Admiralty Centre

18 Harcourt Road, Admiralty
Hong Kong

Legal Adviser as to Hong Kong Law

Guantao & Chow Solicitors and Notaries
Suites 1801-3, 18/F

One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

Corporate Information
NRIER

REREBEITEE XM

6
JUBRIER
BRI 2855
BHEEF L
2189%

FEHEXTERNEBFETE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Clifton House

75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BEERODBFERIRE

EERELELEARAA
HEIA
ERIE 148572112 2103B %

SR
HERMEEGRAR]
BE

SEERB 18I
D
12712701 &

ERES ZEERER
B EREFT (B%)
B

8 20

EEEI79%

Niyth—EE

181 1801-3 F

T EERAR AT 2019 Fik 3



Corporate Information

ANCIE-ve

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35/F One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

Principal Banker
The Bank of East Asia Limited

Stock Code
1920

Website

www.handsform.com

4 Hands Form Holdings Limited » Annual Report 2019

BB

128 o BET &S
HE BT

&%

S B es
RS — 3518

EERAERRIT
RERTERAT

BRATR R

1920

#8vh

www.handsform.com



Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”).

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed (the
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 August 2019 (the “Listing Date"”). It
marked an important milestone for the Group and laid a solid foundation
for future development. On behalf of the Group, | would like to extend our
appreciation to all parties who have helped us build our business over the
years as well as to those who helped to bring the Company to the Listing on
the Stock Exchange.

The Group is a Hong Kong-based subcontractor engaged in the provision of
wet trades works and the wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong.

The revenue from the provision of wet trades works and the wet trades
related ancillary works for the Year amounted to approximately HK$558.1
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$126.3 million, or
29.3% compared to approximately HK$431.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was primarily due to projects located in Tin
Shui Wai and Tseung Kwan O which contributed revenue of approximately
HK$250.1 million during the Year. The gross profit of approximately
HK$70.2 million reported for the Year was higher than the gross profit of
approximately HK$52.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Looking ahead, the recent novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak and local
social incidents in Hong Kong will adversely impact the construction industry.
In particular, the Chinese government and the Hong Kong government
respectively implemented various measures including compulsory quarantine
and new border control measures to prevent the spread of the novel
coronavirus. These containment efforts have impeded the production and
transportation of construction materials and resulted in lack of site workers.
Regardless of the near-term challenges in the industry, we will remain
focused on our long-term goals and sustainable development. The Board
will take appropriate measures to control costs incurred and proactive
approach in tendering profitable projects in order to lessen any adverse
impact on the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my ~ RNAMAREKZEZSHE IS R ORHARME
deep gratitude to our committed staff and Directors for their dedications ~ BME T RESMERRELRER  TRAE
and contributions, and to sincerely thank our customers, business partners ~ F « ¥ BRI EENFES B RETRE

and investors for their continuous support and trust. R RS ©

Cheung Kwok Fai Adam FIEFRITEARZ

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer R E

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020 /A —E-FEF=HA=-++tH
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Management Discussion and Analysis |

Business Review and Outlook

The Group is an established subcontractor in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in the provision of wet trades works and other wet trades related
ancillary works. Wet trades works include plastering on floors, walls and
ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and
marble works.

The Group provides wet trades works through its principal operating
subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma Yau
Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau"). Both of the principal operating subsidiaries
have been registered in the Registered Specialist Trade Contractors
Scheme (formerly known as the Subcontractor Registration Scheme) of the
Construction Industry Council. Pak Fai and Ma Yau first completed such
registration under the predecessor scheme in April 2004 and our registration
has since then covered finishing wet trades, marble, granite and stone work
with a wide range of specialties including brick work, plastering and tiling,
spray plaster and screeding, marble and granite works.

On 16 August 2019, the Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, making an important milestone of the Company’s
business.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 16 ongoing projects
(including projects that have commenced but not substantially completed as
well as projects that have been awarded but not yet commenced) and the
original contract sum of these projects is approximately HK$947.1 million in
aggregate.

The Directors are aware that the outbreak of novel coronavirus disease
(COVID-19) together with the challenges posed by the social unrest in
Hong Kong in the past months means a double blow to the Hong Kong
economy and further contributes to a downward trend in the Hong
Kong construction market. With many large-scale infrastructure projects
approaching completion and lack of new projects in the industry, the Group
underwent fierce competition and faced great pressure when bidding for
new projects. In order to maintain its market share in the wet trades works
industry, the Group will continue to closely monitor the market and respond
to changes in market conditions. The Directors are confident that with the
Group’s reputation in the wet trades works industry and its experienced
management team, the Group is in a good position to compete with its
competitors. The Group will continue to improve its competitiveness in the
market by continuing to provide quality works to its customers. The Group
will also continue to proactively seek opportunities to expand its customer
base and its market share and undertake more wet trades projects which
will enhance value to the shareholders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$126.3 million or
approximately 29.3% from approximately HK$431.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately HK$558.1 million for the Year.
The increase in revenue was mainly driven by the revenue contributed by
some of our existing sizable projects during the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$70.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 32.8%
as compared with approximately HK$52.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Group's gross profit margin for the Year was
approximately 12.6%, as compared with approximately 12.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to
the increase in revenue as discussed above, while the Group's gross profit
margin remained broadly stable.

Other Income

Other income of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$359,000, representing a decrease of approximately 56.3% or
HK$462,000 compared with approximately HK$821,000 for the year ended
31 December 2018. The decrease was primarily due to the absence of rental
income and government subsidy for the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$9.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
149.8% compared with approximately HK$3.6 million for year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase
of administrative staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) due to the
increase of our administration, accounting and finance staff who joined
us during 2019 and the general increment in salaries and bonus for the
Directors and administrative, accounting and finance staff; and (ii) the
increase in post-listing professional fee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$260,000,
representing an increase of approximately 217.1% compared with
approximately HK$82,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
significant increase was mainly attributable to an increase in the interests
on bank overdrafts and bank borrowing, which was primarily driven by
the Group’s business growth and increasing working capital for sustaining
its business operation. Since the bank borrowing was drawn down in late
2018, more interest of bank borrowing attributed to finance costs for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Net Profit

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year decreased by
approximately HK$4.5 million or approximately 11.1% from approximately
HK$40.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to HK$35.8
million for the Year. The decrease in the Group's net profit for the Year was
mainly due the non-recurring listing expenses of approximately HK$17.6
million incurred during the Year (for the year ended 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$2.0 million).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and
Capital Structure

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the
Group since then.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s issued capital was HK$26,000,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 2,600,000,000 of
HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$24.7 million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$18.1
million). The total borrowings of the Group, consisting of bank overdrafts
and bank borrowing, as at 31 December 2019 were approximately HK$3.8
million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$20.8 million). All borrowings
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Interests are charged at fixed and
floating rates. The Group did not carry out any interest rate hedging policy.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately HK$6.5 million
of net book value of its leasehold land and buildings pledged for banking
facilities (31 December 2018: HK$6.6 million).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars. With
the insignificant portion of monetary transactions and assets denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in any derivatives
agreement and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the Year (2018: nil).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio (calculated as total bank
borrowing (i.e. bank overdrafts and bank borrowing) divided by the total
equity) was approximately 1.7% (31 December 2018: approximately
27.3%).

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$4.1 million on the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment. Capital expenditure was
principally funded by internal resources.

Capital Commitments and Contingent
Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material capital commitments
or contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies apart from the
reorganisation in relation to the Listing as disclosed in the Company’s
prospectus dated 6 August 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

Significant Investment Held

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group does not have any other plans for
material investments or capital assets.

Use of Proceeds

The amount of the proceeds, net of listing expenses (including underwriting
fee) either recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income or deducted from the share premium, from
the Listing (“Net Proceeds”) was approximately HK$90.0 million. The
Group intends to apply the Net Proceeds in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

An analysis of the utilisation of the Net Proceeds up to the date of this
annual report is set out below:

BEARFHRAH  BAMFRIBEFEIONE
FaAR

Actual use of Net Unutilised
Proceeds up to balance up to

the date of this the date of this

Planned annual report annual report

BEERFHRAS

BERERARE BEEAFHRAH

ERE HIEFE ZARERLLE

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000

TFET TET T

1 Payment for upfront costs 1 ZXTEEE 39,900 39,900 -

2 Expansion of workforce 2BAEIHA 18,700 60 18,640
3 Upgrading our office facilities and 3 FHRBAIE I AR

information technology system KBTI R4 9,900 1,953 7,947

4 Acquiring machinery and equipment 4 FEE MR MR 8,300 6,321 1,979

5 Payment of performance bonds 5 T BLRE 7,500 - 7,500

6 Renting a new warehouse 6 HEFMEE 3,200 - 3,200

5 Acquiring safety equipment and tools SIEEZE®RBEATIA 2,500 441 2,059

90,000 48,675 41,325

As at the date of this annual report, the unutilised proceeds are placed in
interest-bearing deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed
banks in Hong Kong.

The Directors regularly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may
change or modify plans against the changing market condition to ascertain
the business growth of the Group. During the Year, the Directors considered
that no modification of the use of proceeds described in the Prospectus was
required.

12 Hands Form Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2019

RAERAL - R8BS RIE R
SR E SR S B R IR -

FECHTEARBORIE AR - LAGETD
RETREUGE - DRRAEEZ £HH
Fo AT EFRAHANRRERAMIL
PSRRI (EHER -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 42 employees
(including executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors), as
compared to a total of 35 employees as at 31 December 2018. Total staff
costs which include Directors’ emoluments for the Year were approximately
HK$16.3 million (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$8.8
million). The salary and benefit level of the employees of the Group are
competitive and individual performance is rewarded through the Group's
salary and bonus system. The Group conducts annual review on the salary
increase, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on the performance
of each employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after
recommendation from the remuneration committee of the Company,
having considered factors such as the Group’s financial performance and the
individual performance of the Directors, etc.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees.

During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any
difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Final Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final dividend
to shareholders of the Company for the Year.

Compliance Adviser’s Interests

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Grande Capital Limited
("Grande”), as at 31 December 2019, except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Grande dated 14 March
2019, neither Grande nor its directors, employees or close associates had
any interests in relation to the Company, which is required to be notified to
the Company pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Report of the Directors
EEgHE

The Board is pleased to present to the shareholders this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company while the principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of wet trades works
and other wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong. Details of
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

Business Review

Discussion and analysis of principal activities as required by Schedule 5 to
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including
a discussion of the principal risks facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 7 to 13 of
this annual report. The discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
79 of this annual report. The Board has resolved not to recommend the
declaration of final dividend to shareholders of the Company for the Year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors
and suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
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Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective of
the Group’s human resource management is to reward and recognise well-
performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order
to enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group’s major customers include construction work companies engaged
in public and/or private construction projects in Hong Kong. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support
their businesses.

Sub-contractors and Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number
of sub-contractors and suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
sub-contractors and suppliers, the Group often requires them to satisfy
certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength, track
record, and reputation.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 81 of this
annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had distributable reserves
amounted to approximately HK$66.2 million (2018: Nil).

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed below, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 22 July 2019
(“the Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was approved
by written resolutions of the Shareholders and as approved by the listing
committee of the Stock Exchange which is valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 22 July 2019. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to Participants for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group and any Invested Entity.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with
the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 260,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in any 12 months period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant, any further grant
of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of
Shareholders in a general meeting.
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The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of grant, which must be a trading date; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the date
of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined and notified
by the Board to the participant at the time of making an offer for the grant
of share option.

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible
participants within a period of 21 days from the date of offer of grant of
share option. The consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance
and grant of each share option is HK$1.00, which has to be paid within 21
days.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted. Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
Year and there was no option outstanding as at 31 December 2019.
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Directors

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (Appointed on 30 January 2019)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung (Appointed on 30 January 2019)

Mr. Ma Kan Sun (Appointed on 30 January 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (Appointed on 21 July 2019)

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (Appointed on 21 July 2019)

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (Appointed on 21 July 2019)

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors of the Company, will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall retire at least
once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and Mr. Pak Shek
Kuen will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules has been
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Group
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent under
the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Service Contract

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

All the independent non-executive Directors have respectively entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year unless
terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code. It is the policy of
the Company, in considering the payments of dividends and to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for future growth of the Group.

Under the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter

alia:

o the general financial condition of the Group;

o capital and debt level of the Group;

o future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders;

° the general market conditions; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other
applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The Policy will be
reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

Management Contracts

During the Year, no contract, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company’s business was entered into or existed.

Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors’/Controlling Shareholders’ Material
Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts that are Significant in Relation to
the Group'’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which a director or
controlling shareholder of the Company and the Director’s connected party
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules since the
Listing Date and up to date of this annual report.
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Non-Competition Undertaking

Each of the controlling shareholders of the Company has made an annual
declaration to the Company that since the Listing Date and up to date of
this annual report, he/it has complied with the terms of non-competition
undertakings (“Non-Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the controlling shareholders with the
undertakings stipulated in the Non-Competition Undertakings and have
confirmed that, as far as the independent non-executive Directors can
ascertain, there is no breach of any of such undertakings.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2019, interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief executive
of the Company which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules are as follows:

(i) Long position in the Shares

Capacity/Nature
Name of Director of interest
EENA 51 RmHtE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Interest in a controlled

("Mr. Adam Cheung”) corporation
(Note)
sk BIRE ([ RS 4E 1) (FisE) SN d
Note: 1,950,000,000 Shares are held by Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful

Renown") which is beneficially owned as to 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16%
by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown.
Mr. Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.
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(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of (i) AEEEZEEERNTE

associated corporation

Name of Capacity/ Number of

associated Nature share(s) held/ Percentage
Name of Director corporation of interest interested of interest

g mEER

EEnE HEEE AR B REmtE RGO EE EZED
Mr. Adam Cheung (Note) Wonderful Renown Beneficial owner 84 84%
sRseA (FiRE) EnEAA

Note:  Wonderful Renown is the direct shareholder of the Company and is an associated
corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at the date of this report as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2019, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified by
any Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the
corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

ff5E ©  Wonderful Renown AN A 2 HEM R K E
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Long position in the Company:

Name

BRHE BB

Wonderful Renown

Ms. LC Cheung

R

Ms. Chan Shui King
BRinIR i+

Note:

1.

Capacity/Nature

of Shareholder of interest

5 EEME

Beneficial Owner (Note 1)
EmEa A (M)

Interests held jointly with
other persons (Note 2)
HE M A T HERFAER (FIEE2)

Interest of a spouse (Note 3)
BB e (FiEE 3)

Wonderful Renown is a direct shareholder of the Company. Wonderful Renown is owned as
t0 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16% by Ms. LC Cheung. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown. Mr. Adam
Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown are parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) pursuant to the deed of
confirmation and undertaking dated 21 February 2019. As such, Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC
Cheung and Wonderful Renown will together control 75% of the entire issued share capital
of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. LC Cheung is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Wonderful Renown.

Ms. Chan Shui King is the spouse of Mr. Adam Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan Shui King
is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Adam Cheung is interested in
under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company had

not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in

the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part

XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register maintained by the

Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction,
Arrangement or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or any entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

Arrangements to Acquire Shares or Debentures

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.
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Major Customers, Subcontractors and
Suppliers
The approximate percentages of the Group’s revenue and cost of services

attributable to major customers, subcontractors and suppliers during the
Year and year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:

from the largest customer AR PIHE
from the five largest customers in aggregate ARRFPEHIGL

Approximate % of total cost of services

incurred: BMABE L
from the largest cost of services BARRBEAIGLL
from the five largest cost of services A ARRFEEAE 5t

in aggregate

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers nor
suppliers during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Year are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. All of the Group’s related party transactions are fully exempted from
the independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

After the Listing Date, Pak Fai, as tenant, and Mr. Adam Cheung, as
landlord, entered into a tenancy agreement dated 1 September 2019 (the
“Tenancy Agreement”), for the rental of a property located at Room 5,
14/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an aggregate floor area of approximately 301 square feet
which is used as an office. The term of the tenancy is from 1 September
2019 to 28 February 2020, with a rental of HK$12,040 per month (exclusive
of management fee and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance.
The rent under the Tenancy Agreement was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between the parties thereto with reference to the market rent
payable for comparable premises and is in line with the market level.

Further details of other continuing connected transactions of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to any connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the Shares
as required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.
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Events After the Reporting Period

The outbreak of the COVID-19 and the subsequent quarantine measures
imposed by the Hong Kong government had no material impact on the
Group’s operation.

The Directors are monitoring the situation and will continue to assess
and react actively to the impact of COVID-19 outbreak on the Group's
operations, financial position and financial performance accordingly.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s results of operation may vary significantly from time to
time depending on, among other factors, the political and economic
environment, level of competitiveness, the quality of service and timeliness
of subcontractors, and the adequacy and efficiency of internal processes
implemented by staff and systems. The Group believes that there are certain
risks and uncertainties involved both in the markets and in the operations
which can be summarised as below.

Operational Risks

Due to unexpected circumstances such as bad weather and geological
issues, the actual time and costs incurred in construction projects may
exceed the Group’s estimation at the time of tendering submission and
the work in progress may be interrupted. As a result, such variation could
adversely affect the Group’s operations and financial results. In such
situations, the Group will implement measures such as re-allocating human
resources and recruiting additional manpower including subcontracting the
works in order to expedite the work progress.

On the other hand, it is inevitable that there could be chance of industrial
accidents happened. In order to minimise the rate of accidents, the
Group has already recruited sufficient safety officers to regularly monitor
the work environment, implementation of safety rules and regulations
and establishing safety policies. In addition, the Group also appointed a
registered safety auditor to conduct corporate safety audit semi-annually to
maximise the effectiveness of safety management.

It is quite common in the construction industry that collection of receivables
takes longer time and it may lead to late settlement by customers especially
at the times of unexpected crises due to political and economic factors. To
mitigate the pressure of financial liquidity, the Group produces aging analysis
on regular basis and contacts the management level of the customers so as
to get a better understanding of their solvency status.
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Market Risks

Due to the construction industry in Hong Kong is dominantly subject to
Government'’s large-scale infrastructure projects and such projects would
require prolonged process of legislative approval, it is more passive toward
the future’s prospect of the industry. Nevertheless, the Group will not just
rely on participating in projects from public sector but the Group will also be
more involved in projects from the private sectors.

In the meantime, demand of residential and commercial buildings has been
growing continuously. The Group perceived that such demand will sustain
the booming in the construction industry and attract more competitive
entrants to the industry. In order to grip holding of the market shares, the
Group acquired new machineries to cope with the demand. With its in-
depth experience and knowledge in the field, the Group is capable to
continue providing one-stop construction machinery service to meet the
needs of various customers.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

Independent Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report except for the deviation from code provision A2.1 of the
CG Code as explained in the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the Group’s compliance with the CG Code are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policy

Sustainability is one of the key factors to the Group’s development, as
well as for the viability of its business and the welfare of the community.
The Group is committed to offering premium products and services to
obtain customer satisfaction all round. In recent years, the Group has
been looking for ways to minimise the adverse impact of its businesses
on the environment (i.e. air and noise pollution) by improving operational
efficiencies and implementing eco-friendly measures. The Group will
continue to strive for energy-saving and environmental-friendly equipment
and materials for its construction projects. The Group will regularly review
related policy to promote awareness and practices on resource usage
reduction, waste reduction and energy conservation, and be more active in
involving various community programmes and contributing to the society.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, as far as the Directors and senior
management of the Company are aware, the Group has complied in
all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group during the
Year.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

ESZMNENEEEER

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (GREI#E) (formerly known as Mr.
Cheung Kwok Fai (5REU3)), aged 60, is the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer of the Company, an executive Director and
one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and
was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company on 22 July 2019. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for the
overall management and overseeing and monitoring of the projects of the
Group.

Mr. Adam Cheung has over 29 years of experience in the construction
industry. He joined the Group in April 1990 when he started working as
a manager at Pak Fai. He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since
December 1992 and April 1997 respectively.

Mr. Adam Cheung is the uncle of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an executive
Director, the uncle of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive Director, and the
brother of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung (&%) (“Mr. Ng”), aged 45, is an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for
the overall management and business development of the Group.

Mr. Ng obtained a Higher Diploma in Computer Engineering (With Credit)
from the Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997.

Mr. Ng has over 18 years of experience in the construction industry. Since
June 2001, he has been working at Pak Fai and his major job duties are
review of contracts, material lists and price lists and assist the company in
preliminary project cost estimations. Since January 2010, he has also been
working at Ma Yau as a manager. Since September 2011, he has been a
director of both Pak Fai and Ma Yau.

Mr. Ng is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive
Director, and the nephew of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.
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Mr. Ma Kan Sun (EB5H) ("Mr. Ma”), aged 39, is an executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was redesignated
as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for the overall
project management, administrative matters and safety management of the
Group.

Mr. Ma completed the Safety & Health Supervisor Training Course
(Construction Industry) in August 2012. Since then, he has supervised the
Safety Department and is also responsible for the safety management
system of the Group. Mr. Ma received secondary education in Canada.

Mr. Ma first joined the Group when he was employed by Pak Fai as a
site foreman from May 2002 to June 2004. After pursuing other career
opportunities, he returned to Pak Fai as an office manager in March 2011.
He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since March 2017 and
September 2011 respectively.

Mr. Ma is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an
executive Director, and the son of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (B #3#€) (“Mr. Pak”), aged 61, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct
of the Group.

Mr. Pak obtained a Master of Business Administration from City University
of Hong Kong in November 1995. He further obtained a Master of Science
in Electronic Commerce and Internet Computing from The University of
Hong Kong in December 2003. Mr. Pak has been an associate of The Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since April 1988. He was admitted an
associate of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in July 1988
and further admitted a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants in July 1993.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Pak has over 39 years of experience in the fields of internal audit,
treasury, risk management and business management.

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (E&#) (“Mr. Lo”), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and also a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct of the
Group.

Mr. Lo obtained a Bachelor of Laws from Staffordshire University, United
Kingdom in July 1996 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from
The University of Hong Kong in September 1999. He was admitted as
a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in February 2002 and is a
member of the Law Society of Hong Kong. Mr. Lo has been appointed as
a deputy magistrate in Hong Kong for the period from 17 June 2019 to 20
September 2019.

Mr. Lo has over 17 years of experience in the legal profession. Since
admission of solicitors in February 2002, Mr. Lo has worked at various Hong
Kong solicitors’ firms, including David Y.Y. Fung & Co., Solicitors where he
was an assistant solicitor from February 2002 to May 2004, and Christopher
Li & Co., Solicitors where he was an assistant solicitor from June 2005 to
February 2008. From March 2009, he has been working at Patrick Mak &
Tse, a solicitors’ firm, where he is currently a consultant.

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (fTEI%E) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resource,
key appoints and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Ho obtained a Professional Diploma in Construction Project
Management from The University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education in July 2005 and a Bachelor of Applied Science
(Construction Management and Economics) from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2008.
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Mr. Ho has over 19 years of experience in the construction industry. He
has worked at various construction contractors in Hong Kong, including
Gammon Construction Limited where his last position was construction
supervisor from August 2000 to May 2008, Kin Sum Construction Company
Limited where he was a site engineer from December 2010 to February
2014, New City Construction Company Limited as a site agent from March
2014 to December 2015, and Chi Sum Engineering Limited as an assistant
project manager and director since January 2016.

Senior management

Mr. Lee Tai Chung (ZEFR) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 62, is our site agent
responsible for planning, organising, directing and coordinating activities
and resources on the construction site. Mr. Lee has over 12 years of
experience in the construction industry. He joined the Group in planning,
organising, directing and coordinating activities and resources on the
construction site since 2007 when he started working as a site foreman. Mr.
Lee has extensive experience as a plasterer having first obtained a trade test
certificate as a plasterer in 1999 from the Construction Industry Council. He
is currently registered as Skilled Worker (Principal Trade Division: Plasterer)
in the Register of Construction Workers with the Construction Industry
Council.

Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung (E%#) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 32, is our financial
controller and company secretary. He was appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company on 30 January 2019. He
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s finance and accounts function and
internal controls, and providing financial and business advice to the Board
and senior management of the Group.

Mr. Tsui obtained a Bachelor of Arts with First Class Honours in Accounting
from Edinburgh Napier University in the United Kingdom in February 2012.
Mr. Tsui has been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2014.
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Mr. Tsui has over 11 years of experience in the fields of accounting and ~ ESLAR St NEBEHELE 11 F4558 o &
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests
of shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes
a high priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate
governance practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective
internal controls.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG
Code, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
as explained below. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth of the
business of the Group.

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Since the Listing Date and
up to the date of this annual report, the role of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are both performed by Mr. Adam Cheung.
In view of Mr. Adam Cheung’s role in the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group, being one of the Controlling Shareholders of the
Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director of other members
of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board believes that it
is more effective and efficient overall business planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall be in the best
interests of the Group for Mr. Adam Cheung to take up the dual roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks
and balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board.
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The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it is
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the Company is expected
to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG Code should be
carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual report. Save as
disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with the CG Code to
protect the best interests of the shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code”) on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“"Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout
the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily
operational decisions which are delegated to the management of the
Group, most of the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the Year. The Board is constituted of six members, including
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between board
members are set out on pages 31 to 35 of this annual report.

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors on 21 July 2019. The principal
particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them agreed to act
for an initial term of one year commencing from the Listing Date with a
director’s fee, which may be terminated by not less than one month’ written
notice served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.
However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
One of the independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise.
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During the period between the Listing Date and 31 December 2019, one
Board meeting was held and the attendance record of each Director is set
out in the table below:

Directors

BEx

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B 5 A
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (F/EFITHABZ)

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung h iR &

Mr. Ma Kan Sun BRALE

Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung AL E

Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEESAE

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen B LE

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials, and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense if so reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on
the major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

Continuous Professional Development

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme
to further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge
their duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to the Listing Date,
all Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a
training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
CG Code, the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty
of disclosure of interest. Such induction materials and briefing will also be
provided to newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as
Directors. Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
will be arranged from time to time.
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All Directors have provided record of their training attendance and the
Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with
the CG Code provisions.

Board Committees

5
xt
Zﬁi
X -
32@:
S

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee ~ EE SRV -—HALZ 8¢ AIEXZES([#F
(the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination V%E%J) CRFRZLZES([RBEESG ) NF
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration @Jl BEg([HFMEEE]) - TREREZEZL
Committee”). The table below provides the membership information of BEEARUMNETESTEXNECKNEER :
these committees on which certain Board members served:

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Committee Committee Committee
BE EREESR BELER FHEES
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B ST A - C -
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AL E C M M
Mr. Lo Chi Hung BT AE M M C
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fABIEE ST A M M M
Notes: MIEE
C — Chairman of the relevant Committee C-HHBZEEER
M — Member of the relevant Committee M- 1EEZEEGKE
Audit Committee BEZEEY
The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 July 2019 with ~ AARIERZE ﬂﬁ‘{:ﬂ —+=-HZ2=LWm

written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among others, (a) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor; (b) reviewing the Company’s financial statements, the
annual report and accounts and the half-year report and significant financial
reporting judgments contained therein; and (c) reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and Mr. Lo Chi Hung. Mr. Pak Shek
Kuen is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2019, the Audit
Committee has held one meeting to review the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the financial results for the six months
ended 30 June 2019. The individual attendance record of each member at
the meeting of Audit Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

EREEERENA

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen B LE
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEERE
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fAIBIBE ST A4

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 July 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among
others, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
(d) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for the Directors; (e) reviewing the
board diversity policy of the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”); and (f)
developing and reviewing, as appropriate, the policy for the nomination
of Directors. Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Lo Chi Hung and Mr.
Ho Kwok Lung, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai
Adam. Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2019, the
Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.
In designing the Board's composition, the Board has been considering from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills,
and knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its
implementation by conducting review of the Board’s composition at least
once annually.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

. Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge;

o The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;

o Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director; and
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o Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee
or the Board from time to time.

Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall
be assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set
out in the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall
recommend its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration
and determination.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 July 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no Director or any
of his associates should be involved in deciding his own remuneration
include, among others, making recommendations to the Board on (a)
the remuneration policy and structure for all of the Directors and senior
management; (b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their offices or appointments; and (d) the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Chi
Hung, Mr. Pak Shek Kuen and Mr. Ho Kwok Lung. Mr. Lo Chi Hung is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

No remuneration committee meeting was held during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2019.

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees are provided in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung, was appointed as the Company Secretary on 30
January 2019. Please refer to the section “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” for his biographical information. During the Year, Mr. Tsui
Chun Hung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going
concern basis and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standard
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions of the Listing
Rules. The Directors aim to present a clear and understandable assessment
of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeqguard shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets, and reviewing their effectiveness
annually through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the
Board on any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law,
rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide a reasonable
assurance that material misstatements or losses are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and risks
existing in the course of arriving at the Group’s objectives are properly
managed.

During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the
consultant have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further
enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate during the Year.
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The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for
an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a
separate internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit
Committee, is directly responsible for risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Auditor's Remuneration

For the Year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditor. The statement of the auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Year is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this annual report. During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to
the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and its affiliated firms, in
respect of their audit and non-audit services was as follows:

ERRTS
FEBIZIRTS
- PHIEE

Audit services
Non-audit services
— Interim review
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2,230

380

2,610

Directors and Officers Insurance

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group since the Listing Date.
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Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including (a)
the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website providing an electronic means of

communication.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM
The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM") are subject to the Articles (as amended from
time to time), and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a) Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

(b) The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business
at Room 9, 2/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street,
Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists;
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(© The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders;

(d)  The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary,
if the requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the
Board will not call for an EGM; and

(e) If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/ herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries
can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 9, 2/F, Hang
Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene an EGM".

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

As of the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there were no
changes made to the constitutional documents of the Company.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY, MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

About the Company

As an established subcontractor in Hong Kong, Hands Form Holdings
Limited (the
principally engages in the provision of wet trades works and other wet

“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
trades related ancillary works. Wet trades works include plastering on floors,
walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick
laying and marble works. The Group provides wet trades works through our
principal operating subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak
Fai”) and Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau").

Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Management System Certification

To ensure the effective implementation of ESG development strategies, the
Group highly values the establishment of various management systems.
Based on different international standards for ESG related management
systems, the Group formulates and implements sustainable development
strategies at all levels. Meanwhile, the Group has obtained the following
major certifications:

° ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management Certification;

o OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Certification; and

o ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Certification.

ESG Governance Structure

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) acknowledges
its responsibility for the management of the Group and is collectively
responsible to ensure the sustainability of the Group’s development. The
Board is responsible to formulate the ESG strategies of the Group, monitors
the ESG performance of its operation, reviews the effectiveness of the ESG
management system and determines the ESG policies of the Group. The
chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic planning
and leadership of the Group, while senior management is responsible for
effective implementation of the strategies decided by the Board.
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ABOUT THE REPORT
Scope of Reporting

Unless stated otherwise, this Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the "ESG Report”) summarises the initiatives, policies, and related ESG key
performance indicator (“KPI"”) data of the Group’s major operating revenue
activities which are limited in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to assess
the major ESG aspects of different businesses to determine whether they
need to be included in the ESG reporting.

Reporting Framework

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in the Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Information relating to the
Group's corporate governance practices has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.

Reporting Period

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures being
taken during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year” or
“2019").
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account our stakeholders' expectations and concerns, and strives to
improve our performance through mutual cooperation with stakeholders.
The Group has maintained close communication with our key stakeholders
by utilising diversified key communication channels, shown as below:

Stakeholders
F0E

Investors and shareholders

REE MR

Customers
®PF

Suppliers and contractors
HER M AR

Employees

(=35

The community, non-governmental
organisations and media

A - JEERATHEE KRS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Communication Channels
BBRE

Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings
REBFRE REMBRRAE
Financial reports

IS

Announcements and circulars
NS

Company website

YNIFER

Tender meetings

BEgs

Project briefings

18 B i85

Construction site regular meetings
(including status meeting and
safety meeting)

HIRS0g (BIEEEGRERELE
EE

Telephone interviews and
communication

ERE PN+

Regular management meetings
THEERESS®

Regular performance appraisals
TEHRE G

Internal announcements
NE A S

Charity events
BEEY

ESG reports

RIE - B RERRE

RE - g RERHRE

&S
EHITREARRE R - B REAIEIER
AEEEEERHENHERME  YBHE
BEBHENREAEARERMOER - &
SEEEADASHILEEBREERR MY
TERNERHETEE  EHHENT -

Expectations and Concerns
HEREE

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BT AEBEERER

Financial results

M EE

Service quality

fREsE =

Service delivery time and quality
BR 53X B ] R EE &

Supply chain management
HrEsEn

Occupational health and safety
BEREEZS

Equal opportunities

FEKSE

Remuneration and benefits

B YSE

Career development

BERER

Giving back to society
oo

Environmental protection
IRIFIRAE
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The Group aims to collaborate with our stakeholders to improve our ESG
performance and create greater value for the wider community on a
continuous basis.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted during
the Year, where the Group identified sustainability factors that were
material to our business operations. The management and employees who
are responsible for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operations,
identifying key ESG issues and assessing the importance of these issues to
our businesses and stakeholders. The Group has compiled a questionnaire
in reference to the identified material ESG aspects to collect the information
from relevant departments and business units of the Group. The Group’s
material sustainability aspects will be covered in the ESG Report and the
materiality matrix is as follow:
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The Group’s Materiality Matrix for 2019
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o
L
%N LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS High
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During the Year, the Group confirmed that appropriate and effective
management policies and internal control systems for ESG issues are in
place and confirmed the information disclosed in the ESG Report complies
with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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CONTACT US

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our stakeholders. You may

provide comments on the ESG Report or towards our performance in

respect of sustainable development via the following channels:

Address: Room 9, 2/F.,, Hang Bong Commercial Centre,
28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@handsform.com
Telephone: 2127 4675
A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
A1. Emissions

The Group strives to protect the environment through the
implementation of relevant policies and measures in its
business activities and workplace. The Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 certification to govern
environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by our operations. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction
sites, covering planning, procurement and various project
procedures.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste including but not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance and Noise Control
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact on the
Group.
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Exhaust Gas Emissions

As a corporation providing wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works, the Group’s exhaust gas
emissions are limited to emission generated by forklifts,
and the Group considers the relevant exhaust gas emissions
generated are insignificant. However, the Group still strives
to mitigate the exhaust gas generated from our business as
much as possible. Fuel consumption reduction measures for
forklifts have been carried out and will be described in the
section headed “GHG Emissions” under this aspect.

GHG Emissions

The major sources of GHG emissions of the Group are
diesel consumption for forklifts (Scope 1) and electricity
consumption for the office (Scope 2). During the Year, the
Group had generated a total of approximately 78.07 tCO,e
GHG emissions’ which consisted of approximately 74.41
tCO,e Scope 1 GHG emissions and approximately 3.66 tCO,e
Scope 2 GHG emissions. Based on the total revenue of the
Group during the Year, the intensity of total GHG emissions
was approximately 0.14 tCO,e/million HK$ revenue?.

Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and was based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
"“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment
Report, 2014 ("AR5") and the 2019 Sustainability Report published by
the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

>3 During the Year, the total revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$558.1 million. This number would also be used for calculating other
intensity data in the ESG Report.
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To mitigate GHG emissions, the Group encourages workers
to switch off engine whenever the forklifts are idled and plan
routes ahead of time to reduce route repetition. Our forklifts
undergo regular maintenance service to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use. With such measures
implemented, emissions from diesel consumption for forklifts
have been minimised and employees’ awareness on GHG
emissions reduction has been enhanced.

Sewage Discharge

As the Group does not consume significant volume of
water in our business activities, our business activities did
not generate material discharges into water during the
Year. Moreover, wastewater of the Group is discharged into
the municipal sewage pipeline network for processing and
the majority of the water supply and discharge facilities
are provided and managed by the property management
company.

Waste Management

Hazardous Wastes

Due to our business nature, the Group did not generate a
significant amount of hazardous wastes during the Year.
In case there are any hazardous wastes produced, the
Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector
to handle such wastes in order to comply with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.
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A2.

Non-hazardous Wastes

As the construction projects of the Group are outsourced
to subcontractors, the non-hazardous wastes generated by
the Group’s operations mainly consist of paper consumed in
the office. During the Year, the Group had generated a total
of approximately 289.40 kg non-hazardous wastes with an
intensity of approximately 0.52 kg/million HK$ revenue.

The Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, and
encourages the use of electronic media for communication
and double-sided printing wherever possible. To promote
reusing paper, a collection box for single-sided used paper
is placed next to each printer and reminders are posted in
the office. With such measures implemented, employees’
awareness on paper consumption reduction has been
enhanced.

Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource
efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s
operations, and is committed to optimising the use of
resources in all of its business operations.

During our daily operation, fuel and electricity are the major
energy consumed. The Group has established relevant policies
and procedures in governing the efficient use of resources,
in reference to the objective of achieving higher energy
efficiency and reducing the use of unnecessary materials.

Energy Consumption

The Group’s major sources of energy consumption are diesel
consumption for forklifts and purchased electricity for the
office. During the Year, the Group had consumed a total of
approximately 304,400.00 kWh diesel and approximately
7,322.14 kWh electricity. Total energy consumption was
approximately 311,722.14 kWh and the intensity was 558.54
kWh/million HK$ revenue.
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Apart from the reduction measures for forklifts mentioned,
the Group places great emphasis on electricity conservation
in order to minimise the impact brought by the Group’s
operation to the environment. The Group encourages our
employees to set room temperature ranges from 23°C
to 25°C and switches off electrical appliances to avoid
unnecessary consumption. The Group selects energy-efficient
equipment where applicable and will adopt immediate
maintenance once damage is reported. With such measures
implemented, employees’ awareness on energy conservation
has been enhanced.

Water Consumption

The Group's water consumption mainly consists of water
consumed in the office. The Group'’s water consumption
expenses are included in the property management fee,
and therefore the Group did not have water consumption
record during the Year. Due to our operating locations, the
Group does not encounter any significant issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. Still, the Group is dedicated to
promoting behavioural changes in water usage at offices and
encouraging water conservation. Environmental signages
on water-saving messages are posted in prominent places to
remind employees to conserve water.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group does not involve in any production process, it
does not consume packaging materials, hence this aspect is
considered as irrelevant to the Group.
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A3.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Noise Management

The Group recognises that noise pollution may be generated
as a result of our business nature. Therefore, the Group has
implemented a number of measures to reduce noise level and
ensured that the quality of life of the neighbourhood would
not be severely disrupted. Whenever the noise level exceeds
the prescribed level regulated by the Noise Control Ordinance
and other relevant guidelines issued by the Environmental
Protection Department, the Group will investigate the
underlying factors and make respective arrangements.
Silent equipment will be used where available and will be
maintained regularly. With the relevant measures, the Group
aims to minimise the impact brought to our neighbourhood.

Indoor Air Quality

Good indoor air quality is important for employees who work
in the office. Indoor air quality in our workplace is regularly
monitored. The Group has adopted several measures
to ensure a good indoor air quality at the office, which
include but not limited to conducting regular cleaning of air
conditioning system. With such measures, indoor air quality is
maintained.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

B1.

Employment

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Employees’ qualification, professional skills and experiences
exert significant influence on the quality of services. As an
equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective and non-discriminatory selection process. The
Group’s “Human Resources and Payroll Management Policies
and Procedures” regulates the recruitment procedures with
the principles of fairness and justice. The promotion of
employees is determined by appraisals, that are conducted
regularly by the Human Resources (“HR") Department
to evaluate staffs’ work performance. The “HR Processes
Manual” has detailly listed the process of appraisals and
the types of appraisals, namely quarterly appraisals and
yearly appraisals. The termination of employment contract is
governed by internal policies to ensure all dismissal comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or illegitimate dismissals.
Our management conducts face-to-face interviews with
the resigned staff in order to understand our employees’
opinions.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to employment including but not limited to, the
Employment Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance,
that would have a significant impact to the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 42
full-time employees (including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors), all of whom were from
Hong Kong. 37 of our employees were male and 5 of them
were female.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Remuneration and Benefits

In order to attract and retain skilful employees, the
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed. The salary and benefit levels of the
Group’s employees are competitive, and they are referenced
to market conditions, individual qualifications and experience.
Apart from the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"),
medical insurance and labour insurance are purchased for
employees once they join the Group, while salaries increment
and discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance and
market conditions.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which all can
thrive. The Group is dedicated to maintaining workplaces that
are free from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
against any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group also has zero
tolerance of sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace
in any forms. Any employee who is intimidated, humiliated,
bullied or harassed (including sexual harassment) may report
to the employee’s representative, or file complaints directly to
the management representative or the general manager, and
the Group will take serious approaches to resolve these issues
upon receiving the said complaints.
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B2.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Health and Safety

Employees’ safety is regarded as the top priority due to
high-risk activities and critical exposure of employees during
specific works such as construction at heights during the
delivery of the Group’s services. The Group is committed
to providing healthy and safe working environment for
all employees and contractors, and strives to achieve zero
tolerance toward hazards, incidents, non-compliance and
accidents.

Accredited by the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification, the
Group has established the “Safety and Health Policy” which is
reviewed by the Group’s management annually or once there
is a significant change in relevant regulations, the Group's
governance structure or working environment. The Safety
Committee, which consists of managers, Safety Officer and
supervisors, is responsible for the effective implementation
of the policy. A “Safety Plan” is written for each project to
support the policy. To ensure the policy is up to date and
applicable for the current status of the project, our Safety
Officer conducts interviews with the construction site
supervisors as well as the site workers on the understanding
of the policy.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong
Kong related to health and safety including but not limited
to, the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.
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Occupational Health and Safety

In order to control and mitigate the safety risks in our
construction projects, which may involve high-risk activities,
safety is treated as our first priority during the delivery of our
services. Clearly stated in the “Safety Plan”, all workers must
obtain the Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate
(also known as the green card). Our construction sites are
equipped with first-aid boxes and fire extinguishers. Various
reminders are also posted around the construction sites to
ensure our workers are wearing safety gears and aware of
the dangerous area, and accident statistics are prominently
displayed at the same time.

The Group also demands our workers to be equipped with
personal protective equipment and ensure that the personal
protective equipment is effective. Personal protective
equipment can only be purchased from suppliers after
consulting the security consultant and discussing with the
Safety Committee. Relevant personal protective equipment,
including but not limited to helmets, safety goggles, hearing
protectors, fall arrestors and full-body safety harnesses, are
provided to all on-site workers in order to prevent accidents
in high risks activities especially at heights. Workers must
receive trainings and instructions on the correct usage of
the personal protective equipment and procedures for the
maintenance, storage and replacement of personal protective
equipment.

Safety Trainings

In order to reduce incidents and enhance the Group's image,
the Group aims to raise the employees’ awareness of health
and safety through safety trainings. There are mainly four
types of safety trainings, namely the guided courses, the
Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate programme,
specific trainings, and safety and health lectures. The Group
provides appropriate safety trainings to all management
personnel, supervisors and front-line employees. Employees
are encouraged to take initiatives to notify relevant safety
trainings course. All new employees must receive internal
one-hour safety guidance training within one week after on
board.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Development and Training

Employee Development and Training

The Group recognises that staff training and development is a
strong pillar to the sustainable operation of the business and
driving force to drive future business growth. Adopting the
“Training & Development Policy”, the Group encourages our
employees to attend training programmes designed by the
Group, take initiative to assess skills and seek development
activities that match needs. Training officers and supervisors
shall work with staff to assess and provide feedback on their
skills and interests, advice and arrange training programs
and develop training materials and activities that match their
needs of career development objectives. They develop an
annual development plan to support employee development
and plan a training schedule for each employee.

Training Programmes

Training programmes mainly consist of two types, namely
internal trainings and external trainings. External trainings
include conferences and forums. The HR Department
encourages employees to attend external training programs
that focus on topics of relevance to their position. For internal
trainings, the Group designs trainings for its employees
regarding their own needs of their job duty, position status,
or experience. For new hired employees, a set of orientation
training materials including company structure, “Code of
Conduct” and “Safety Procedures” and other relevant
information developed by HR Department will be provided on
their first working day.

The Board is encouraged to attend external seminars and
training programmes at the Group’s expense to update
themselves with legal and regulatory developments, as well
as the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development to directors will be arranged whenever
necessary.
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B4.

B5.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during the
recruitment process as defined by laws and regulations.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to the prevention of child or forced labour including
but not limited to, the Employment of Children Regulations
and the Employment Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

Personal data is collected during the process to assist in the
selection of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’
personal data. The HR Department is responsible to ensure
identity documents are carefully checked. If violation is
involved, it will be dealt with the circumstances as clearly
stated in the Group’s “Employee Handbook".

Furthermore, employees of the Group work overtime on a
voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour standards.
The Group also prohibits any punishments, management
methods and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment,
etc. against our employees for any reason.

Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly include suppliers of construction
materials and tooling, machinery and equipment rental
service providers and suppliers of safety consultancy services,
repair and maintenance services and logistics services.
During the Year, the Group had engaged 191 suppliers and
subcontractors while all of them were located in Hong Kong.
The Group generally order the relevant construction materials
and services on a project-by-project basis, and therefore does
not enter into any long-term supply agreements with our
suppliers.
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To assess suppliers’ and subcontractors’ ability to supply
materials and deliver works which meet all the requirements
and specifications, the Group has formulated “Pre-
qualification of Suppliers and Subcontractors” policy to
regulate the evaluation on suppliers’ and subcontractors'’
performance. Quotation is asked from at least three suppliers
or subcontractors from the supplier list or subcontractor list
after tender is confirmed. “Supplier Evaluation Form” is used
to evaluate suppliers’ performance after the completion of
the project on the quality of the materials delivered, ability
to meet requirement, competitive prices and deliveries on
schedule. The Group attends regular meetings with suppliers
and subcontractors in order to evaluate the performance of
workers, safety measures in the construction sites and quality
of materials. Suppliers or subcontractors may be suspended
or removed from the approved list if they fail to fulfil our
standards.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are the most important for the sustainable growth of the
Group. Our direct customers include main contractors and
subcontractors of various building construction projects
in Hong Kong while the ultimate owners of the projects
undertaken by us mainly include the Government and
property developers. As a subcontractor, the Group mainly
secures our projects from contractors through tenders by
invitation. The Group strives to maintain good relationship
with our major customers to establish good reputation and
to gain future business opportunity.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to product health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress including but not limited to, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group. There was no complaint received during the Year.

Project Quality Management

The Group’s quality management system has been
accredited by the ISO 9001:2015 certification. The Group
commits to fulfilling our customers’ satisfaction with high
quality construction service, and implementing the “Project
Tendering and Management Policy” to ensure our clients’
requirements and expectations are fully understood and
documented. The Project Manager is responsible to monitor
the project progress and job workmanship as per contractual
and other requirements. The Contract Manager will then
review all documents referenced in the tender received by
the Group. The Tendering Department prepares preliminaries
tender notes after the review to record the project details,
specific contract payment terms and conditions, and the
information required to be submitted. Such information will
be brought to the Board for their acceptance or rejection of
tender.

Privacy Protection

Despite that the Group has limited access to our customers’
personal data due to our business nature, as a responsible
service provider, the Group has formulated internal policy
to regulate the handling of confidential information while
protecting customers’ privacy. All confidential data related to
the Group’s business and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Any leakage
of confidential information to the third parties is strictly
prohibited. As such, in carrying out our operations, the
Group adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
expressly reiterates confidentiality obligations.
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The Group is determined to strengthen the protection of
customers’ privacy. Our employees are trained to maintain
the confidentiality of our customers’ information which they
may have access to during work. The Group also standardises
procedures for filing in order to protect confidential
information.

Advertising and Labelling

As a subcontractor who provides wet trades works and
other wet trades related ancillary works, the Group does
not have any significant issues on advertising and labelling.
Nevertheless, in the Group’s dealings with its clients,
information provided should be complete, true, accurate,
clear, and comply with all relevant laws and regulations
regarding the proper advertising, including but not limited to
the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standard of ethics in our
business operations and does not tolerate any forms of
corruptions, frauds and all other behaviours violating work
ethics. Unethical or illegal events such as corruption, bribery,
and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group stipulates
the disciplinary code in the “Employee Handbook” and
employees’ “Code of Conduct”, and ensure the employees
understand the details of the terms. The Group encourages
employees to report any suspected misconduct.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group.
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Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking corresponding
measures because of their personal interests, the Group has
formulated the “Declaration of Interest” which provides
guidelines and procedures to employees in exercising their
utmost good faith and honesty in all transactions involving
their duties and under no circumstances use their positions or
knowledge gained for their own personal benefits. Employees
must ensure that there is no conflict of interest between
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have had a
personal relationship with related person where a conflict of
interest is perceived should provide written declarations at the
earliest possible opportunity.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group expects and
encourages our employees who have concerns about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group to
come forward and voice those concerns. Therefore, the
Group adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and
operations. Complainants are assured of protection against
unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if the concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the “Whistleblowing Policy”
and make recommendations for further improvement based
on investigation results.

68 Hands Form Holdings Limited » Annual Report 2019

NmEREE

AP IR B BB AR E T EL
MR - AREEHIECH @2
RE)  ERmAEERMESIRE
o BEESRREBRENME
RXpTERRAERLBIE B
B R TS A B sk A
L ER BB ARLA - B B /A RE(R
MENEANZERLHAREEER
BORE BB LRETZEHET
FEMNZER - MRB/FEN =S
mR RFRRESTHEAL—H
BEREBEABERNALAZZRM
EmEH -

SR
AEBHEAOREARESRSK
ENFEN - BREMEES - 12X
X B ()02 B B AN 5 B N BD S
RETRITRITANEEES
M - BEARITA - Bt - K
REHPTABE KEBRIKE
W) o WK AT S B YR
B TEEINTAYHE B
I TELRITE  AEEEER
BEWBETERDS L - &
ZZEEeREEENEI(BREK
RONERMERRBERELEREL
HE—UCERERE -



B8.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Community Investment

Corporate Social Responsibility

As part of the strategic development, the Group is committed
to supporting the public means of social participation and
contribution, and to nuturing the corporate culture and
practices of corporate citizen in our daily operation. The
Group aims to promote the stability of society, and support
underprivileged on rehabilitation to improve the quality of
life. The Group also focuses to inspire our employees towards
social welfare awareness. The Group embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain
our corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.

As a role model for the employees, the Group has been
committed to participating in charitable activities in order
to practice the corporate spirit of repaying society. In
September 2019, the Group donated HK$100,000 to
Fung Tak Lutheran Home for the Elderly in order to support
charitable organisation for helping the needs and improving
the elderlies’ quality of life. Through various efforts, the
Group hopes to establish a corporate image of sunshine
and responsibility, and encourages employees and other
stakeholders to give back to the society.

B8.

RE - g NERWRE
HEKRE
TEHESET
TERR %%@m o KEE
BN HEELANFRTE

MRRERE  IBIRERTE
BREECEVEMEEARE
%o AEEEERSHEREN
ME BB AR ERIARIT A
8- AEEIEHBEEHE
BHEemMNER - AREELS
EEREETRAAN BRI MR
CEHEEE HLERAXEHE
REGHERN—#7

ERRENEE  AEBB IR
LEZBZFHABRELOELEH
TEBE - RZT—NFNA -
rEBEARKEERELRERIE
f2100,000/8 70 A #HEZH
BEDEFTEMABRIRERE
EEER  c ASBHERESE
ﬂﬁLit%tmﬁﬁﬁﬂ T T
- WS EhE B K H A K 25 48
%J@Hb@ﬁﬁ?‘i%‘ J

EFTEEIRAR AT 2019 Fik 69



Independent Auditor’s Report
VR Glikeees

Deloitte
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF
HANDS FORM HOLDINGS LIMITED

B EZERERATR
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hands Form
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 163, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A EE S

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BAEEL TS (F)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETEE
Revenue recognition from provision of construction

services (Continued)

RHUBRERBH W ESTER (F)

We identified the revenue recognition from provision
of construction services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and management'’s estimate is involved in determining
the revenue when contract progresses.
EERIRMHBERBAGRERRABTERARETEE
REREHGEMBHRRERERERAETANETT
RS g L E IR B R fhET

As set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group derived its revenue from provision of wet trades
works and other wet trades related ancillary works over time
and recognised HK$558,137,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019. Revenue from provision of such services is
recognised over time using input method, i.e. based on the
actual costs incurred by the Group to date compared with the
total budgeted cost for the project to estimate the revenue
recognised during the year. The accounting policy for revenue
recognition and the significant accounting estimate are
disclosed in notes 3 and 4, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

WA MBHRRMT S - SEEBERENEBER
R T R EME/KEEEE TIRESKS - WHREZE
—E-NF+TZA=+—RHI-FE#R558,137,000/8 T
e (L ULt 2B AR 7 P 15 M 55 2 B8 2 B ) O B R (68 PR ) AR B
R ABREBERAEBR LS RIEEEENERKAEIEE A
FAEKAREITER - AMAFTF ARG - WatERH
SRR NEAGTH G D BIELRS M BEHRRAM T3 k4
PR o

BEHETNETNMEEBRETER

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition from
provision of construction services included:
EEEMRHEERBEOBEEANEAEFBRUATS
18 :

o Obtaining an understanding on how the management
recognises the revenue from the provision of
construction services and how the total budget costs
are determined;
THREEERRREHEERBAESRENTTEAR
BIEERABEN SR

o Agreeing the project contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders, if any;
REEBANSBEERANLIREFHES (W
B/
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ERVE A EE S

Key Audit Matters (Continued) FARETEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETEE EEFETHETNNEERERETSE
Revenue recognition from provision of construction

services (Continued)

RHUBRERB K EER (F)

o Assessing the accuracy of the actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the subcontractors and
suppliers, on a sample basis;

MRS Bl REEE L AN S RERHE
SNFARNFEE ELE BRI RN

o Checking the total budget costs by inspecting the
underlying contracts and correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers, on a sample basis, of
individual projects and understanding the causes for
significant variances, if any, made to these budgets
during the year;
FRMEECENEENERENAKRESBE &
HEEHBAAZEREKRNEEE - I T AENZ
EHEFNERERAZENRE (F) :

J Evaluating the reliability of the management’s
estimation by comparing their budget costs to actual
costs on completed projects, on a sample basis; and
FRMEREREREREKNNEETTEANER
BXAS - FHEBE R BRI 0 &

o Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised for
the year by recalculating the revenue based on the
percentage of completion of the contract based on the
input method.

FRBRER ALERAEENRGLNTKE D LA
0 AR F E R R B R
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A EE S

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A EE S

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the MM BXRESNBRRARRE
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) KE{F (&)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional ERRBE BB ERNETEZIIEN—IR
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We EHEEREEHNE  ERASZBETRESR
also: FERREE - FE

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the . BB R FHE AR EF SRR M B BUR G

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, BA 7% 3 3k 15 /8 22 K B8 o PR 4t A LBy,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, el R ET RMITEZET - UK
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to PREREMEENEZREARTEN
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material BRREMHER - ARNEFFAIE P REF
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting Bl BE - WEER - RERZOE
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional BAERE - Bt RAEEIRBILEKH
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. B KSR AR PR LAY R R B R RE 25 3R (R S5 5R

MEHRNEAEROAR S

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit ~ ® TR ERIZA B A B BL R ETE
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the ARBRERANEZET T‘EI?FE e
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on ¥ BEEEAPEENKBERER -

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the o HEESFASHBEREEE UK

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made EEMFESHA RIBARER LS o
by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
ERVE A EE S

BB E AR S M MR AR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A EE S

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Zhu Chen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ireBmMEMEE NS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ =T —hFE+-_HA=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FETT
Revenue Wz 5 558,137 431,819
Costs of services BRAG R AN (487,954) (378,953)
Gross profit EF 70,183 52,866
Other income HAanlg A 6 359 821
Increase in fair value of BV HER A FEIB N
an investment property 14 - 730
Reversal of (allowance for) impairment  J{E &85 @ (#4E)
losses 127 (326)
Administrative expenses THFASX (8,964) (3,588)
Finance costs SN ®IN 7 (260) (82)
Listing expenses stk (17,586) (2,024)
Profit before tax R AR B Al 8 43,859 48,397
Income tax expense TSt 9 (8,033) (8,076)
Profit and total comprehensive income S E&EFI N 2 ENESA%E
for the year 35,826 40,321
Earnings per share BREAF
- Basic (HK cents) - BB 12 1.63 2.07
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ra ISR SR

AT 31 December 2019 R=E—hE+=-A=+—81

2019 2018
—E-hF =—\F
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
B aE FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 13 11,174 7,918
Deposit for acquisition of property, W% -
plant and equipment W R s 2 e 2,745 =
13,919 7,918
Current assets MENEEE
Trade receivables 5 IR 15 28,158 31,189
Other receivables, deposits and HABEUGFIR - 2o RFERFIA
prepayments 16 65,044 4,081
Amount due from a director W E EFIA 17 - 16,149
Contract assets BHEE 18 130,126 83,604
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIRS 19 24,696 18,123
248,024 153,146
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables E%&Efﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ? 20 19,742 54,846
Contract liabilities BHEE 18 2,165 2,737
Income tax payable J?Eﬁﬁfr S 14,514 6,570
Bank overdrafts SRITBEX 21 3,815 15,575
Bank borrowing SRITRER 21 - 5,209
40,236 84,937
Net current assets mEEEFE 207,788 68,209
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREARE 221,707 76,127
Non-current liability IEMBEME
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 22 270 126
Net assets EEFE 221,437 76,001
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital [N 23 26,000 600
Reserves fEtE 195,437 75,401
221,437 76,001

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 163 were approved

HNETIBEZ 163 EMNGRETBREN_ZE=
TE=Z/ = thEIZ%%%@?tt/ﬁ&&%%é%’

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2020 and

are signed on its behalf by: WHIATESRRESGRE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Mr. Ma Kan Sun

REIE 4 BREALE
Director Director
o =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EREEIR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZE—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

Share Share Other Accumulated
capital premium reserve profits Total
AR R RE Hiti 255 wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 —T—)\&—H—H 600 - - 35,080 35,680
Profit and total comprehensive income FREN R EEREEE
for the year = = = 40,321 40,321
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\E
+=-A=1+—H 600 - - 75,401 76,001
Profit and total comprehensive income FREA R EERRAT
for the year - - - 35,826 35,826
Effect of reorganisation (Note a) BANTE (izta) (600) = 600 = =
Issue of shares under the Capitalisation BEBAMEBTRIR
Issue* (Note 23(c)) (M5 23(0) 19,500 (19,500) = = =
Issue of shares under the Share Offer* BERHEEETR, *
(Note 23(d)) (FrEE 23(d)) 6,500 123,500 - - 130,000
Transaction cost attributable to issue of BITHRID EE R B
new shares - (20,390) - - (20,390)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—hEF
+-A=+—H 26,000 83,610 600 111,227 221,437
= Both of which are defined in Note 23. 2 EEHRME23 -
Note: BIRE -
a. As part of the Reorganisation (as defined and detailed in Note 1) and in streamlining the a. EREHEN—HBH (EERFBRMEE) RREH

B R EH M2 4 5F K Creative Panda Limited
([ Creative Pandal) Bt 2 K %% 17 1 A% & 38 A% T Autumn
Well Limited ([ Autumn Well ) » 3% Bl #% 5¢ 4 ([ 3k %
ENERRBY2 AT ((Rat ) BRESHEEIRE
FRARE] ([1E58]) B9 2 5P A%4E T Creative Panda MASRT K

group structure, Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (“Mr. Adam Cheung”) and Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung”) transferred their entire equity interest in Pak Fai Engineering
Limited (“Pak Fai”) to Creative Panda Limited (" Creative Panda”) in consideration for Creative
Panda allotting and issuing 1 ordinary share to Autumn Well Limited (“Autumn Well”), and
transferred their entire equity interest in Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau”) to Vintage
Charm Limited (“Vintage Charm”) in consideration for Vintage Charm allotting and issuing 1 Vintage Charm Limited ([ Vintage Charm ) it 3 & 3877
ordinary share to Autumn Well. 1% E @AY T Autumn Well » HEFEZNE R TEER
ARI([ER]) B2 EBAAE T Vintage Charm ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZ =T —hFE+_A=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES i ES)
Profit before tax FRIERT @A 43,859 48,397
Adjustments for: SRR
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — #1% - = MR ETE 795 311
(Reversal of) allowance for impairment losses  SE{E/E1E (@) B (127) 326
Fair value gains on investment property FEME N AR - (730)
Finance costs BUE RN 260 82
Operating cash flow before movement in HEESEPRIKERenE
working capital 44,787 48,386
Movements in working capital: LiBESEH)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B 5 W ERIE R > (18 50) 3,277 (7,877)
Increase in other receivables, deposits E M EUEIR © 12e RIE FRIEE N
and prepayments (61,539) (3,683)
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (46,641) (50,407)
Decrease in contract liabilities axasEmd (572) (3,454)
(Decrease) increase in trade and B 5 K E A FIE OR300
other payables (34,843) 24,372
Cash (used in) generated from operations e (A EXRS (95,531) 7,337
Income tax paid ERATEHE (256) (8,337)
Income tax refunded R B FTSH 311 =
Interest paid BERFE (260) (82)
Net cash used in operating activities LETEEIFTAIR € F58 (95,736) (1,082)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE)
Repayment from (advance to) a director —HREENER(M—BEEDH) 16,149 (13,592)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE - WENREE (4,051) (807)
Payment for deposit for acquisition of XTEEYIZE - BE REE 2 EE
property, plant and equipment (2,745) -
Net cash from (used in) investing activities BRSNS (FTH)REF58 9,353 (14,399)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Proceeds from Share Offer A& EEE P15 5IE 130,000 =
New bank borrowing raised HTEERITER 25,000 5,675
Repayment of bank borrowing BEIRITER (30,209) (466)
Issue costs paid BT (20,075) (315)
(Repayment) draw-down of bank overdrafts (B8 IREURTTBX (11,760) 15,575
Net cash generated from financing BEEBATSIR ST
activities 92,956 20,469
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND Re RIBeEEYILINFERE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,573 4,988
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRE MIRSEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR, BIRTTEHR RS
represented by bank balances and cash 18,123 13,135
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRBE MREEZEEY
OF THE YEAR, RIRTTHER MR ®
represented by bank balances and cash 24,696 18,123
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN e e kR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ =T —hFE+-_HA=1+—HILFE

General, Reorganisation and Basis of
Preparation and Presentation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and registered in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 30 January 2019. Its immediate and ultimate holding
company is Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful Renown”),
a private limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"). The controlling shareholders of the Company are Mr. Adam
Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown.

In preparation of the proposed listing of the Company’s shares
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the companies now comprising the
Group have completed a reorganisation on 28 February 2019 (the
“Reorganisation”), pursuant to which the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group on
28 February 2019. Details of the Reorganisation are set out in Note
2 to the historical financial information of the accountants’ report
(the "Accountants’ Report”) in Appendix | to the prospectus of the
Company dated 6 August 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

The Group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries resulting
from the Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis
as if the Company had always been the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group throughout the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 16 August 2019.
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General, Reorganisation and Basis of
Preparation and Presentation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based
on the accounting policies set out in Note 3 which conform with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the HKICPA, and the principles of common control combination
have been applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. The functional currency of the Company is HK dollars
("HK$").

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
29.

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Group has consistently applied HKFRSs that are effective
for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2019 throughout
both years, except that the Group adopted HKFRS 16 Leases since
1 January 2019 and Hong Kong Accounting Standard 17 Leases
("HKAS 17") for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17, and the related interpretations.

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were
not previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group
has not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date
of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 January
2019. Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised in
the opening accumulated profits and comparative information has
not been restated.
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Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16
at transition, the Group elected not to recognise right—of-use assets
and lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application.

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of warehouse and office premises that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Total short-term lease expenses of warehouse,
office premises and machines recognised in the profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is HK$2,195,000.

Operating lease commitments disclosed R=—Z—/\F+-A=+—H

BENREHEAE
W FER R

as at 31 December 2018
Less: Recognition exemption
— leases with lease term
ending within 12 months
from the date of initial
application

- AR B 8K ER B B
12{EARBHNEE

BRI REBIEEBMB
WEZERA (F)

BEMBRERAT165RHEE
(%)

ERFEBA ()
RIRBEE TN R BRI R T B
BaRes RIS 165765 - AEER BT
TR E R AR B ERAR 128 A B
HERREAEAEREERE -

AEBRKEHHERRBREEANREE
RFAYEOHE - 1B MK B AR
ZHEBR T ZEASKATIY B~ ERE
BEEERENHEE -BE_ZT-NF+=
A=+—HIFE MafERNE
B A ERESNEHESR R
%8/52,195,000 87T °

At

1 January 2019

R-ZZE-hF—HA—H

HK$'000

THETT

96

Lease liabilities relating to operating
leases recognised upon
application of HKFRS 16

JE R BB 15 S 2ERIZE 16 SR
ERNERKEAENTHERRE

Based on the assessment, the adoption of HKFRS 16 did not have
significant impact on the Group’s financial position nor on the
financial performance. Accordingly, no adjustment has been made to
the accumulated profits as at 1 January 2019.
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ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs or Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") that have

been issued but not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Insurance Contracts'

Definition of Business?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Definition of Material*

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform?*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after

1 January 2020

w

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company consider
that the application of the other new and amendments to HKFRSs
and HKASs is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements in foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”;
and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

88 Hands Form Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

BRI REBIEEBMB
WEZERA (F)

CREMBERER 2T E R
MBEREENRBBUHRSE
L pACHENG )

B EX 2T RS T BAMBREE
RSN - =T\ T AT BB
BREZHRMER - REAEE - BA
BTSRRI 2 B ER IR 2 85T
A WR-E-FTF A BRZEH
S EAR A

Br L R] RAEERT BT 5 IR E £
DA 2578 B 75 s o5 22 BI 2 B S AR 2R 4 5
ZEFIARSIN KRR ERRBEREM
el MRERIBAMBRELEANNAT R
ARG IEHAREHTBHRRELEAN

B/ 488
Ao

BRGENF1RREEET
ERIEBR BT R EEZE
=
RSB BB A EH EAHIEE R
SMEBIRMRIE - HEEMTRETE
5T - ARME - BRAEH

. BE [BE| E2EHNBR - &
BERSRBEMNARURR
. A EEREEREREEIA A

REBHFE | MR TAIZE]:
&

. BeEMFEETEZEERE]-M
FEEERE] - IRERI
BRBEAZERE - ZABK
BIBBNESE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material (Continued)

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and wvill
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework"”)
and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

° discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.
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Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework"”)
and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
(Continued)

Conseguential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the
framework. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application
permitted. Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely on the New
Framework on its effective date in determining the accounting
policies especially for transactions, events or conditions that are not
otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the following accounting policies which conform
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties that are
measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share—
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share—based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non—financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transferred at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and companies controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when a company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving business under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the consolidated business in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been consolidated from
the date when the combining business first came under the control
of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining business are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain

at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income include the results of each of the combining business from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
business first came under the common control, where this is a
shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are presented as if the businesses had been combined at the
beginning of the previous reporting period or when they first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a bundle of
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE—F

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity
performs; or

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with

an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

3.

ire SRR

—NF+-A=T—HLEFE

EXREFEE (&)

if
i}

EEEHMERE (&)

Al

TS THIEAR —IaEE « ElEE—
R EAER  MKSERSE—BRE
FANE SEXEEELNEEHEREET

. EPREBBRARNRRKES RFE
REREBAFREMNME © 3

. AEEEAAIESIZR—IANA
SEENRHEFPERNEE
%

. $EIMJ%ZQEHAJ‘¢“T$’EEI

FEABRRARNEE  AA%

I;Ti@%ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%%’ﬂﬁwﬂﬂ%ﬂ
TTHER -

BRI WER T P SRR AR A 1% i
PRSI — RS R RAFERR,

BHEEREASBWREKERER -
REAKEREFEZ RGO (HAR
PRABEIRIT) - RIBBRBMEHREEDE
9SRIE IR ERTE - HAR - BUGRIRTE
REBUBEEOEGEER - BIRA
EBNFEARERRENES -

BHRAEEAKERATEFERRTNE
E B AEEE B FPURERKE (K
ELRBIIE) -

B LR AR AR - 2019 FiR 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities arising from same contract are
accounted for and presented on net basis.

Specifically, revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from provision of wet trades works

The Group provides wet trades works (including plastering on floors,
walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and
floors, brick laying and marble works) and other wet trades related
ancillary works under contracts with customers. Such contracts
are entered into before the services begin. Under the terms of the
contracts, the Group is contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs. Revenue from provision of such services is therefore
recognised over time using input method, i.e. based on the actual
costs incurred by the Group to date compared with the total
budgeted cost for the project to estimate the revenue recognised
during the period. The directors of the Company consider that input
method would faithfully depict the Group’s performance towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS
15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception or
modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

As a lessee
Short—term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short—term lease recognition exemption to
leases of warehouse and office premises that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right—of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Except for short—term leases and leases of low value assets, the
Group recognises right—of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term is depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right—of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right—of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in—substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Under HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in other income
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"”) are
recognised as expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long—term employee benefits

Short—term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries) after deduction of any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building (Continued)
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation. Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at their fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investment property (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the director of the Company
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amounts of tangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash—generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash—
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash—generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash—generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash—
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash—generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash—generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash—-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro—
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash—generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash—generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash—generating unit or a group of
cash—generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash
generating unit or a group of cash—generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Initial recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXRSFBXE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRIT A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) ERMEE (8

Classification of financial assets THREENTE

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their FIEERRANEHEELEETEmE
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the ERA R B EIRE HA AN A AT E -

classification of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently fa TolGEE 2 € 5 E ZE A1 RE iHAK

measured at amortised cost: RETE -

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . TREERENAUIREHNR®
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect MEMBAESRMEENEBKER
contractual cash flows; and /E &

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on . TRIBENA NIRRT E B S
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of EEMRenEERXNEAE R
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. REERSHFIE ©

All recognised financial assets of the Group that are within the scope AEEFREFEBR AV BHRELENEI

of HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured at amortised cost. SREE ) RS R E B H IR i

PXANET & e
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ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial asset measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective
interest method and is included in the “other income” line item.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, amount due from a director and bank balances) and
contract assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment is
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contracts assets . The ECL on these assets is assessed individually for
debtors based on internal credit rating, the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a
financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an
actual default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=-ZE—NF+-A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default (i.e. no default history), ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
financial instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST A B RS R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXSFBEXE)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRIT A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) THMEE (8)

Impairment under ECL model (Continued) BRI EEEEL T HRE ()
Definition of default EYESE

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default BN BELRKARE TIERERN Y
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience FE—RAA]KE - AXEBER BRI
indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria EERRERMS  TIERBKELD
are generally not recoverable. L

. when there is a breach of financial covenants by the . MR 5% FHERPERE %

counterparty; or

. information developed internally or obtained from external . N Eb AR R sk B AR AR EIS Y &
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its BERA - BBATKAEREER
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into BABERAEE) BEENRCK
account any collaterals held by the Group). S RAREERFANEAERR) o

The Group also considers that default has occurred when the AEENTRRE BLEBHERIOKX

instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has - AIEARNSEM  BRIEXEEERS

reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more BRIIFERAEAEERNENEE
lagging default criterion is more appropriate. B RadE - BIfERIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that

financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit—
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
Q) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write—off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are past due over one year, whichever is earlier. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised directly in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability—weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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year ended 31 December 2019 HZE —Z—

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity instruments
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank
borrowing and bank overdrafts are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant periods. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next twelve
months.

Revenue recognition from provision of
Construction Services (as defined in Note 5)
The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of Construction
Services according to the management's estimation of the total
outcome of the project as well as the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation measured based on input
method. Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises the
estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the Construction
Services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or
lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
revenue amounted to HK$558,137,000 (2018: HK$431,819,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets using individual assessment, based on the internal credit rating,
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date. The amount of the impairment
loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and circumstances,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2019, the
carrying amounts of trade receivables are HK$28,158,000 (2018:
HK$31,189,000), (net of impairment loss allowance of HK$217,000
(2018: HK$463,000)) whereas the carrying amounts of contract
assets are HK$130,126,000 (2018: HK$83,604,000) (net of
impairment loss allowance of HK$1,013,000 (2018: HK$894,000)).
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a net reversal of
impairment losses of HK$246,000 (2018: impairment losses
of HK$78,000) and impairment losses of HK$119,000 (2018:
HK$248,000, net of reversal of impairment losses) are recognised
and charged to profit or loss in respect of trade receivables and
contract assets, respectively.

Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable
from provision of construction services including wet trades works
(including plastering on floors, walls and ceilings, tile laying on
internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and marble
works) and other wet trades related ancillary works (“Construction
Services”).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers
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FERENEE 2

EFRHNWED

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Type of services PR 7% ¥R 5
Construction Services FRERE 558,137 431,819
Type of customer EFRER
Private sector projects Fh & 5L RITE B 555,552 396,933
Public sector projects NEFRRIIEE 2,585 34,886
558,137 431,819
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Revenue and Segment Information 5 WEKkIHEHR (&)
(Continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with (i) EBEEFZEHNNENEE
customers AEEHHRME K IR RE MK
The Group derives its revenue from provision of wet trades works 1B 8 AL & T2 o B 15 1Y UK 25 B e )
and other wet trades related ancillary works are recognised R AEBEERNTPRHMERE
over time. All the Group’s services are rendered directly with the AEEEFPEATREEBEBRE - &
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers are agreed in BT EAZE33EA -
fixed—price with terms from 1 month to 33 months.
Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) Z7EZHREF &8 (RIS H
performance obligation for contracts with HAE AR FERK) MER T A EE/
customers that remain outstanding as at FX 32 {8 % T8 HA 7R 52 UK &5 Y B e
reporting date and the expected timing of HyWT -
recognising revenue are set out as below:
2019 2018
—E-NF —EFN\F
HK$°000 HK$000
Fx Tt
Provision of wet trades works R#URKIRZ
— Within one year -—%R 133,674 357,953
— More than one year but not more - Bl —FENBRME
than two years 24,720 1,857
158,394 359,810
Segment information (iv)

Information is reported to the executive directors of the Company,
who are also the chief operating decision maker (“CODM") of the
Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the overall results and financial
performance of the Group as a whole. No analysis of the Group’s
results, assets or liabilities and no discrete financial information
is regularly provided to the CODM. Accordingly, only entity—
wide disclosures on revenue, major customers and geographical
information are presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

The accounting policies for segment information are the same as
Group's accounting policies described in Note 3.

2 EPEF

ARBATER (MRAKEETREER
RE(XEZERRE ] EZRER
NETERDERRRFE - TBLE
RREBHAASEEBNEEFA LY
BRI - PEEMATELERKER
HAEENERE  BEIWNOMAER
ERIEF B E R - Hitt - ERREEWE
BELERNE /AL D2 EREER

Ml - EBEFFPMBREENOKE o

7 BB E H4H) & R IR R HLA MY R 3 At A9
AEEEABRR - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

(v)

(vi)

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which is also its place
of domicile. The Group’s non—current assets are all located in Hong
Kong.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the year are as follows:

5. WmRkoMBEFR (&)

(v) BEZER
AEEMEBRES (MRRREL) EE
£15 - AEEZIERBEEHANES

(vi) BEFEZEFNER
FA- REFAMEAEBE B K ER
10% R P HIKEIT

2019 2018

—EB-NhF —T-N\F

HK$000 HK$°000

FET T

Customer | 2 331,949 181,738

Customer |l ERI 92,057 45,460

Customer |l R N/A TE/ * 108,959
& Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the * HER NS RS ARG R EE RS R

corresponding reporting period. BB 10% °
Other Income 6. HflxA

2019 2018

—EB-NF —T-N\F

HK$000 HK$°000

FET T

Interest income FLEWA 180 -

Sundry income TR 179 16

Rental income GEEALION - 135

Government subsidy (Note) BT REAL (MHEE) - 670

359 821

Note: Government grants mainly include subsidy from Construction Industry Council’s
Employers Subsidy Scheme, all are compensations for incurred expenses and not

asset related.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Finance Costs 7. BERK
2019 2018
S —=— )\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interests on: UTEEBEZFE :
Bank overdrafts RITEX 71 14
Bank borrowing RITEK 189 68
260 82
Profit Before Tax 8. KBANREF

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

71N

S

BATEFIDAENR GHA) AT 88/

2

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration EALGIEA ) 2,610 =
Depreciation of property, plant ME - WELRRETE
and equipment )
— Recognised as costs of services — FER R AR A 536 208
— Recognised as administrative - ERBITEAX
expenses 259 103
Total depreciation heEms 795 311
Directors’ remuneration (Note 10) BE=HM (FHEE10) 2,110 1,523
Other staff costs Hh 8 TRA
— Salaries and other benefits - ¥ R E AR 13,694 7,023
— Contributions to MPF - SRHIMEATERHER 538 260
Total staff costs BT AL 16,342 8,806
Cost of materials and toolings FER R BRIS A RORT 4 K
recognised as costs of services TEKA 16,971 12,820
Subcontracting fees recognised TR RIS A AN
as costs of services DBEEER 446,972 351,054
Gross rental income from an investment #:2/AEMIRAKKRE
property recognised as other income YEERS WA - (135)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred 38 : EAEAS WA Z
for an investment property that "B B
generated rental income REFX - 3
- (132)
Rental expense on short-term leases B - MHAMHER
in respect of warehouse, MRS SR
office premises and machines 2,195 -
Operating lease rentals in respect =N N JST- 0
of warehouse, office premises KEHSEHES
and machines - 840
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

9. Income Tax Expense 9. MEHBX
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Income tax expense comprises: FISHAX 84
Hong Kong Profits Tax HANEH
— Current tax — BNHER® 1A 9,824 8,062
— Over-provision in prior years - BEFEHRERE (1,935) =
— Deferred tax (Note 22) — RIERIIE (F95E 22) 144 14
8,033 8,076

Pursuant to the relevant tax ordinance of the Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region, Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided

at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in

Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

REFEFNTRREBERBKIEN - &
BRHEHRBEREBEE_ZT-—NFEFR_ZF
—N\Ft_A=t—HILFEEREE
R EEHERTOEMIR16.5% B R B

2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before tax BRA AT Al 43,859 48,397
Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% REATIE16.5% 7,237 7,986
(2018: 16.5%) ZZE—)\F :16.5%)
STHEOHIE
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAERTMARNR B E
tax purpose (55) (120)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR B s o 2
for tax purpose 2,951 375
Over-provision in respect of prior years — B{E4F FiBEEREUE (1,935) =
Tax effect on two-tiered tax rate (Note) AR HIF RAFIIS 2 (FiE) (165) (165)
Income tax expense for the year FAMERAZ 8,033 8,076

Note:  On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 10. EERESTHAEMER

and Employees’ Remuneration & T %
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERESTHRAEME
Mr. Adam Cheung, Mr. Ng Sheung Chung and Mr. Ma Kan Sun SREAE - MMBEEERERBLEER
were appointed as executive directors of the Company on 30 T-NFE-—A=THEZERARTH
January 2019. Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Lo Chi Hung and Mr. Ho TEE - QL - EEERE R
Kwok Lung were appointed as independent non—executive directors BEELAER-_TE-—NFLtA=Z+—HE
of the Company on 21 July 2019. ZERNRRBILIFNITES ©
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief executive HRAEBNEBENRENRARE
of the Company (including emoluments for services as employees/ EREFRITBRABNME (BERKAR
directors of the Group prior to becoming the directors of the RAEFRIERAEEES ESRH
Company) by entities comprising the Group are as follows: FRIGEIBNE) 2T -
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE_-_ZF—hEF+=-A=1+—H
IHEFE
Salaries
Discretionary and Contributions
Fees bonus  allowances to MPF Total
e MFRAL HeR= BREEHR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FAT FAT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Adam Cheung REAE 270 - 445 18 733
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung hmBEsE A 189 300 312 18 819
Mr. Ma Kan Sun BRRTE 124 60 204 17 405
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen SEZ7 Sk 54 - - - 54
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEELE 54 - - - 54
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung B 45 - - - 45
736 360 961 53 2,110
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 10. EERESTHRAEMER
and Employees’ Remuneration (Continued) ST M (&)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERETBRAEME (E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BHE_ZT-\F+A=1+—HILFE
Salaries
Discretionary and Contributions
Fees bonus  allowances to MPF Total
He MERAL  FEREE  BESHR it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$000
FHET FHT FHT FAT FAT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Adam Cheung REE - - 656 18 674
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung {hBEsE s - - 462 18 480
Mr. Ma Kan Sun BRALE - 60 294 15 369
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen SE] Pk - - - - -
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEEEE - - - - -
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Bk - - - - -
- 60 1,412 51 1,523
0) Mr. Adam Cheung acts as chief executive of the Company (i) REEB-ZE-NFLtAZTZ=
with effect from 22 July 2019 and his emoluments disclosed HREFARAAZRSITHRAER -
above included those for services rendered by him as the EXFBEEEMEeREEERE
chief executive in management of the affairs of the Group. BAEEEBNERITRABR
RERGHME -
(i) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the (iy BBELATIKE2EZEHBALTRAK

duties and responsibilities of the relevant individual within the

Group and the Group’s performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
and Employees’ Remuneration (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in
respect of their respective services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
undertaking.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management affairs of
the Group.

The independent non—executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

During both years: (i) no remuneration was paid by the Group to any

director of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group or as compensation for loss of office;

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

there was no early termination of appointment of directors,
and accordingly, no termination benefit was provided to or
receivable by any director;

no consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services; and

save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities, and the
Company’s holding company.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation

to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in

which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31

December 2019 or at any time during the year.

10.

EERBSITBRAEMER
ST %M (&)

EERBESTHRAEME (&)

(i) BMEREFTSEEEARFNE
(RIEINCIE 30 A2 2735320
ARTS M IR 8 S ST AN ELAd AR ARAR A ©

(ivy LlBTESME/REZAREA
SEEEEHNREME

v LB YIFATESFHERARE
BRERAARESNREME -

RAEFE : ()N ERERERAQBE
MEES N EMEF - (ERIMAREE
S INAAE B1& ) B BT A (E

(i) BEREAKRLEREES FAul
EREMESREKERMHE
FhUL T U AR LR A

(iy WMEREREERBEMAEZ=7H
RERE S EB UL M EK AR
=

(iv) BRAFHRABEEIN  BIEANE

= RENENEIBNMEEER
B URARRANERABRE
S AVER - EERREMZS

kol

Bl

REBEE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HLHF
B FREREHE » NARBER L HE
AEBEGEEMARRESENEFE
BEXRERAEAEDNEARS - &
BEaH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

10.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
and Employees’ Remuneration (Continued)

Employees’ remuneration

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two directors (2018: two directors), details of whose
remunerations are disclosed above.

The remunerations in respect of the remaining highest paid
individuals during the year are as follows:

10.

EERBSITBRAEMER
ST %M (&)

B T ErBp

RER AEBEREREHEALEER
2EF (T \F:MBRER)  KF
ZHINFBER LXK

RERN - EEESRESH AL ZHMN
B

2019 2018
—E-hEF T )\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FETT

Salaries, allowances and discretionary e o BB REBIEA
bonuses 2,189 1,809
Contributions to MPF EiE e R 36 36
2,225 1,845

During the year, the remunerations of the five highest paid
individuals including two (2018: two) directors, are within following
band:

B 8012
£% 1,000,000 87T

Emolument band
Nil to HK$1,000,000

RER - ARREFAL(BERE(Z
T—)\F: MB)ER) ZHFMNFUAT
#E

2019 2018
g —EN\F
5 5

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
of the Company or any of the five highest paid individuals waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=-ZE—NF+-A=+—HILFE

Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during 2019 and 2018, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purpose of basic ARG E BRERB TR BT
earnings per share (FREM) (FET)
(profit for the year) (HK$'000)

11.

12.

Hﬁ /%\

RZB-NER_F—/\F - XRFH
A AR Hx%i‘iﬁ&‘@m/ Tk 25 A {a]
KB BREHERETEZRRET
HH’LE >

BREFN

AEARBEEANRGEEREARRT ]
ERIATEUE -

2019 2018
S —T-N\F
35,826 40,321

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FARETEEFIREARAFH
shares for the purpose of basic TR NIE T8 (FAR)
earnings per share (in thousand)

Number of shares

REBE

2,195,753 1,950,000

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating basic earnings per share during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 are retrospectively adjusted based on the
Reorganisation as described in Note 1 and taking into account the
effect arising from Capitalisation Issue as defined and described in
Note 23(c).

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no potential
dilutive shares in issue for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

ARFERBEE_T-NFLE=_FT—N
Ft-A=1T—HLFESREREFN
VBRI INAE T BAREMT AR 1 T E
MR A MR 23(0) SR KR PR B AL 3
TEANZEEYAE -

BE_T-NAEFR-_FT-N\F+_HA
=t+—BLLFE ARBIEEESET
EERY W EZ5|BREERRT)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. Y% - BEKRRE
Leasehold
land and Machinery
buildings and Office
HELi Fixtures  equipment  equipment Total
REF RE KERRE WARME Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 21)
(BsE21)
COST A
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\§—H—H 2,769 147 1,652 65 4,633
Additions R = - 1,003 - 1,003
Transferred from investment property 51#%& 173 8 5,260 - - - 5,260
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+ZA=+—H 8,029 147 2,655 65 10,896
Additions NE - 2,041 2,010 = 4,051
Written off i - - (138) = (138)
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-NE+=A=+—-H 8,029 2,188 4,527 65 14,809

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEHE

At 1 January 2018 R-ZT—\E—F—H 1,314 87 1,201 65 2,667
Charge for the year FRFAE 73 29 209 = 311
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-\&+-A=+—H 1,387 116 1,410 65 2,978
Charge for the year FRRZ 160 99 536 - 795
Written off i - - (138) = (138)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+=A=1+—-0 1,547 215 1,808 65 3,635
CARRYING VALUES FEE

At 31 December 2019 R=E-"&+=A=+—-H 6,482 1,973 2,719 - 11,174
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F+-A=t—H 6,642 31 1,245 = 7,918
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Property, Plant and Equipment 13. ¥ - BERZHE (&)
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated itz - BERREEE LSERFH
on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives after taking BEMEUBREERATERF SRR
into account the residual values: B
Leasehold land and buildings 50 years HELHRETFT  504F
Fixtures Shorter of 5 years and lease KE S5FENREEH
term (LBREE R%E)
Machinery and equipment 4 years W N 45
Office equipment 5 years NS 54F
Investment Property 14. REY*E
Investment
property
REME
HK$'000
FHET
FAIR VALUE ~EE
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZF—NF—HA—H 4,530
Increase in fair value recognised in B AR A A T E N
profit or loss 730
Transferred to property, plant and HEEYE - WERZE
equipment (5,260)
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZZE-N\FER_ZF-NE+_A=+—H -
All of the Group’s property interests held under leases to earn rentals AEERBEHERBARNESHIESR
or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value RIEEEN 22 MERRHUNATE
model and are classified and accounted for as investment property. B2 - WEREMEIBRAL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

14.

Investment Property (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 31 October
2018 (i.e. the date of transfer) has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by Valtech
Valuation Advisory Limited (the “Valuer”), an independent qualified
professional valuer, not related to the Group, whose method of
valuation has been disclosed below. The address of the Valuer is at
Room 1901, 19/F, Remington Centre, 23 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong,
Hong Kong. The investment property is categorised within level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value was determined based on the direct comparison
approach that reflects sale of the property in its existing state with
the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to recent
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.
There has been no change in the valuation technique during the
period up to 31 October 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, investment property with
carrying amount of HK$5,260,000 was transferred to property, plant
and equipment as the management had changed the use of the
property to owner occupation purpose as the warehouse.
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ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

14. Investment Property (Continued)

15.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use
of the property is their current use.

Flat 5, 6 Floor, Fashion Centre,
51-53 Wing Hong Street,
Cheung Sha Wan,

Hong Kong

&6

SKEEAT51 =535

KA 6185 =

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables, net

Valuation technique

fEERA

Direct comparison approach

ERLBA

B PR FIRFER

14.

15.

BREY= ()

REFTMEZATFER  BEZESK
RERGREBRRRAE

Significant input
BERB@AE

Based on price per square
feet, using market observable
comparable prices of similar
properties ranging from
HK$6,520 to HK$6,647 per
square feet at 31 October
2018 (i.e. the date of
transfer) and adjusted taking
into account of locations
and other individual factors
such as floor level, size and
condition of the properties
REFREUMFR=E—\F+A
=t—R(ERRH) MBI RR
HREREEGTAR652081E
6,647 BLELMETHRER » WiEZE
B EREE  BRRMERRZELM

BRIE T 88
B 5 R
2019 2018
S —EN\F
HK$000 HK$000
FHT FHT
28,158 31,189

As at 1 January 2018, the balance of trade receivable at net arising

from contracts with customers amounted to HK$23,390,000.

RZZE—NF—HA—H RKERFAEY
2B Z NGRS RE A 523,390,000
BT ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHZE =T —NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

15.

Trade Receivables (Continued)

The Group grants credit terms to customers for a period ranging
from 17 — 60 days from the invoice date for trade receivables. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

15.

B 5 EWFE ()

AEEREPETZEEHBESEK
RBZEZABMENF17E60K - A
TREFRUENRERRRIEER
B2 7R DT -

2019 2018

—EB-NF —E-N\F

HK$000 HK$°000

FET T

Within 30 days 30HA 20,524 20,853
31 days to 60 days 31260 H 7,634 9,921
61 days to 90 days 61290 H - 415
28,158 31,189

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Company’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$7,638,000 (2018: HK$11,677,000) , which are past due as at
the reporting date. None of the past due balances have been past
due 90 days or more as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group has assessed the
potential customer’s credit quality and defined credit limit to each
customer on an individual basis. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed when necessary. The Group does not charge interest nor
hold any collateral over the balances.

Impairment assessment subject to ECL mode/

The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of trade receivables, trade receivables
have been assessed based on individual assessment. As at 1 January
2018, the impairment loss allowance on the trade receivables of
HK$385,000 has been recognised against accumulated profits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Trade Receivables (Continued) 15. EZEWRFRIE (&)

RIETER S BRI T TRl E TS ()
EAAEBEFERREEEF IR K
SEHHEHRFPEAEMNTE  TRH
WRZE—NEER=ZE—-N\F+=H
=+—BEBEETERNFHENE S ER
B EERBRBHEEERZER

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applied
individual assessment for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2019
and 2018.

As at 31 December 2019
R-E-hF+=-A=+—H

As at 31 December 2018
R-E-NF+=-A=+—H

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BRREE REAE REFERE IREAE REEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Internal credit rating
R EE TR
Low risk* 2019: 0.14% - 2.84%
1B * ZZE-NF 0 0.14% - 2.84%
— Lifetime ECL, not (2018: 0.06% - 2.25%) 28,375 217 31,652 463
credit impaired (ZZ—/\F : 0.06% - 2.25%)
- 2HEMEEES
ABEEERE
@ Referring to debtors have a low risk of default and do not have any prior default * §AABRIEE R &I SR SERTHEL

records and are considered as not credit impaired.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and internal
credit rating by reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit rating agencies, and
are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the
current and forecasted economic growth rates in Hong Kong, which
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate) that is available without undue costs or efforts.
Such forward—looking information is used by the directors of the
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at each of the reporting date.

fREr BARAR I S B A E EDRE A REURR AR -

BHEERDEREKRR EHEFH
NBEMGBZELEZNE  URARE
B (2ZEBREENFASEYEME
RENMEWEE 2 BT MibET - AR
BENHTIVEZRASIENMARZZ
ATEEE R (BB E Al MIRAIEIE &
o ARBREBALEFETENERS
ROBEAR) EH AR - ARREZNER
= HEE A A BRI LB R ET i E AT R
TR, ©
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15. Trade Receivables (Continued) 15.

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised a
net reversal of impairment losses allowance of HK$246,000 (2018: a
net impairment losses allowance of HK$78,000), based on individual
assessment.

The movement in the impairment loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables during the year was as follows:

B 5 EWFE ()

IRIEFERS BEEE A TR B (4E)
REBEE-_E—NFt+-_A=1+—HItF
B AEERERER A ERREEE
P 1 1% [0 % 58 246,000 T (—ZF — N\
F REEIERHEFEE 78,000 87T) ©

RERE S RINEIE 2 FE B 1B EE
FaR -

Impairment loss

allowance

WEBERE

HK$'000

T

At 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERB AT MEERFE 385
Impairment loss reversed B ERESE (365)
Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE 443
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—\F+=A=+—H 463
Impairment loss reversed B EREESE (463)
Impairment loss recognised EHRRBEEE 217
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-NF+=-A=+—H 217
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Other Receivables, Deposits and

16. HMEWRIE RERAHS

Prepayments FIE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FAETT FAET
Other receivables and deposits H At FEUGRIE R iR & 413 171
Prepayments (Note) TEfHFRIE () 64,631 =
Prepaid listing expenses A EmRX - 3,334
Deferred issue costs IEEEEL TR AN - 576
65,044 4,081

Note:  The balance represents prepayment to certain subcontractors which are expected
to be utilised within six months after the reporting period.

Amount Due from a Director

2019
—E-hF
HK$000
FET
Non-trade related EE 5
— Mr. Adam Cheung - RAEAE =

MisE: %EHRERETETOEBHBANRER A
HRBERRSNERNESA -

17. ER—BEEFIE

Maximum amounts
outstanding
during the year

R
2BALE

2018 2019 2018

—BN\F S —FN\F

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

FHT FETT FHT

16,149 16,149 16,149

The balance as at 31 December 2018 is non—trade related,
unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free. The balance is
fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2019.

RZE—N\F+_A=+—HZ&E®B
JEE S - BER  BEEREER
2B - REE_ZT—NF+_A=1+—
HIEFEEE2EERER -
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18. Contract Assets/Liabilities

The following is the analysis of the contract assets and contract

liabilities:

18. ANEE &

UTRENEERAGHRBZDN

2019 2018

S —\F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Contract assets BHEE 131,139 84,498
Less: Impairment loss allowance B ORBERE R (1,013) (894)
130,126 83,604

Contract liabilities BHBE (2,165) (2,737)

Contract assets

Amounts represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of Construction Services, which arise
when: (i) the Group completed the relevant services under such
contracts; or (i) the customers withhold certain amounts payable to
the Group as retention money to secure the due performance of the
contracts for a period of generally 12 months (defect liability period)
after completion of the relevant works. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at
the point at which it becomes unconditional.
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Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)
The Group’s contract assets are analysed as follows:

BHREE BE ()

BREE (&)
REBNANBESTMT :

2019 2018
S —\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Construction contracts — current BEAY - B
Unbilled revenue* REEUA * 104,199 61,441
Retention receivables SR E & 25,927 22,163
130,126 83,604
* It represented the revenue not yet been billed to the customers which the Group * HEAKBEETXKZEFA OB TOHEBRSE

has completed the relevant services under such contracts but yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers.

As at 1 January 2018, gross contract assets amounted to
HK$34,091,000.

Changes of contract assets during the year ended 31 December
2019 were mainly due to increase in: (1) the amount of retention
receivables in accordance with the number of ongoing and
completed contracts under the defect liability period; and (2) the size
and number of contracts in respect of Construction Services that the
relevant services were completed but yet certified by representatives
appointed by the customers at the end of reporting period.

The Group’s retention receivables included in the Group’s contract
assets will be settled at the expiry of the defect liability period of the
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts. The balances are classified as current as they are
expected to be received in its normal operating cycle.

BiHARRZFRAEORA @ MZSSHEE AR
HEPIEEHNRRKE -

R-ZE—N\F—A—H AHNEELE
/534,091,000 7T °

KEE-F-NE+=A=t—AILE
B ANAEZRBEIEER ()RS
AT KRR E EHANE TR A
HBENERRESSE  RQOREE
HIRE SARBRIS R R MRS HE
mRF R E BRSO LR E
290 -

AEBEHNEETHRKRE SRR E
B & 40 2 BRBE B B JE i i SR FR A8 R
BRRTAZIGREE - ZFHEBRDER
nE - RASEBHHN —RE LR
NRHE -
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18. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 18.

Contract assets (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model
The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of contract assets, contract assets have
been assessed based on individual assessment. As at 1 January 2018,
the impairment loss allowance on the contract assets of HK$646,000
has been recognised against accumulated profits.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applied
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract
assets which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

As at 31 December 2019

BHREE BE ()

BHEE (&)

ISR RS B R R TR

AEBERBECAFETEMHE RS
ERFEIRRENRBEEERE - Bt
BEANEBENEHEEERE - e%ER
AHEREEH SN EELTHE - RZF
—N\F—A—B &HEEMNMERSE
R #5646,00078 7T E YRR RETm MIFER -

ERASEEERRERESR —&R K
SEHETFPRAAMEEFH - TX
FIR—_F-—NEFER_F-N\F+H
E—i-—EIﬁ%ﬁ?&?ﬂl%ﬂ%ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ/—\iﬁﬁé
ZIEERBRREREEERZER -

As at 31 December 2018

R=Z-hn&+=RA=t-H RZE-N\F+-A=1+—H
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BRREE fREAE REFERE REAE REEBERE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Internal credit rating
ABEETR
Low risk 2019: 0.14% - 2.84% 131,139 1,013 84,498 894
Ve “Z-NEF :0.14% - 2.84%
- Lifetime ECL (2018: 0.06% - 2.25%)
not credit impaired (=2 —/\F : 0.06% - 2.25%)
- 2HEHSEERE -
AEEEERE

140 Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2019



18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 18.

Contract assets (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model (Continued)

The internal credit rating classification and the expected loss rates
are classified or estimated based on the same manner as those
determined for trade receivables disclosed in Note 15.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
an net impairment losses allowance of HK$119,000 (2018:
HK$248,000), based on individual assessment.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of
contract assets during the year was as follows:

BHREE BE ()

BHEE (&)

R R e ()
PO BT AR 5 R TR S B K T
515 BT B V3L E 5 IR EOBE T 4R
R ST MRk s -

RBE-ZZT—hAhF+-A=+—HLHF
& AEBIREER &R EREE
BEHEF 1190008 T(ZE— NF:
248,000 7T) °

FA - AHNEEZRERBESINT

HK$°000

T#ET

At 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERBANEMERERFE R 646
Impairment loss reversed B EREESE (107)
Impairment loss recognised E R EEE 355
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—\F+=A=+—H 894
Impairment loss reversed BB EIREEE (894)
Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE 1,013
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-AF+=HA=+—H 1,013
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18. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 18. GHEBE &&E (&)
Contract liabilities BRERE
The Group’s contract liabilities are analysed as follows: RAEEZEHNBESFTAT ¢
2019 2018
S G
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Construction Services contracts — current  EEERIEE 4 — i Eh 2,165 2,737
At 31 December 2019, the contract liabilities mainly represent the RZZE-—NAF+ZHA=+—H " 68A
excess portion of certified revenue over the recognised revenue, BEFEHRDERR SR OHEZE L|5Z 7 Y
the balance will be recognised as revenue for the year ending HEEHs  BEERERBEE_ST_F
31 December 2020. FrZA=+—RIEFEERAWNE -
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRIITERRR AT EESNEBES
relates to carried—forward contract liabilities. FAE RS o
2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FE&T
Revenue recognised that was included  F#HEt AA KB BB
in the contract liabilities balance at BRI
the beginning of the year 2,737 6,191
19. Bank Balances and Cash 19. MITERRRE
Bank balances and cash are interest—free or at nominal rate as at RZE-NEFER-_FT-NEFE+A
31 December 2019 and 2018. =+—8  RITEBREBESHAREN

REME MRS -
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Trade and other Payables 20. EZREMENTRIE
2019 2018
—Z-hEF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Trade payables 2 S IR 16,065 52,445
Payroll and MPF payables T&EREERENKIE 1,179 959
Accrued expenses FEETFZ 2,427 =
Accrued share issue costs FEET R (R B TR AR - 261
Accrued listing expenses JEET ER - 966
Purchase of machinery payables BB TRIE = 196
Others HAth 71 19
3,677 2,401
Total 5T 19,742 54,846
The credit period on purchases from suppliers is 30 days or payable BHENEENEERR30 BHERR
upon delivery. I SZ 5 o
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based TRET R BMERRLEZZAHZE5 0
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: Z SN FIBRARE DT -
2019 2018
—Z-hEF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Within 30 days 30EAA 16,065 52,415
31 days to 60 days 31HE60H - 30
16,065 52,445
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21. Bank Overdrafts/Bank Borrowing

21. HBITEX BITESE

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank overdrafts (Notes i and ii) RITHE ST (e i) 3,815 15,575
Bank borrowing RITIEE
— secured and guaranteed (Note i) — B A ER (HEEi) - 5,209
3,815 20,784
The carrying amount of bank HERERERGFFNRITEX
overdrafts and bank borrowing MIRITIEEREREE
that contain a repayment on demand  (RREBEE F5IR)
clause (shown under current liabilities) ~  HEIRLA T HEIEE :
but repayable:
— within one year -—FR 3,815 20,784
* The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan S ZEMREUE R BEAES AT KB A
agreement. Ao

(ii)

Bank overdrafts carry interests at market rates of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2.5% per annum, also the effective interest rate, and were
repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2019, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the
legal charge over (1) the leasehold land and buildings (Note 13) of the Group, (2)
corporate guarantee executed by the Company.

At 31 December 2018, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the
legal charge over (1) the leasehold land and buildings (Note 13) of the Group, (2)
property of Mr. Adam Cheung, and (3) personal guarantee executed by Mr. Adam
Cheung. The personal guarantee by Mr. Adam Cheung was released during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

The specified fixed rate of the bank borrowing was 2.97% per annum which is
also the effective interest rate, during the year ended 31 December 2018. The bank
borrowing is fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Deferred Tax Liabilities

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

22. REEHEEE

A BMRRAKRNZINME - & TE
ERIREERBED IR

TRAMMGHRE & BT RIALE S

reporting purposes: DA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets RETH IR E 2= 203 224
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFRIEE & (473) (350)
(270) (126)

The following are the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and
the movements thereon:

BRREEHEL R (AE) REZDH
BIT -

Accelerated

tax ECL
depreciation provision Total

FEHEE
IEBIETE EiERE #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 R-—Z—NFE—AH—H 282 (170) 112

Charged (credited) to profit or loss ~ F XK B (5FA) 1825

for the year 68 (54) 14
At 31 December 2018 R=F—NF+_A=+—H 350 (224) 126
Charged to profit or loss for the year &Rk B8z 123 21 144
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hE+=-A=+—H 473 (203) 270
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22,

23.

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Continued)

The deferred tax liabilities resulted from temporary taxable
differences arising from accelerated depreciation in relation to capital
allowance claims on qualified assets in accordance with prevailing
tax laws in Hong Kong.

The Group has no other significant unrecognised deferred tax assets
for deductible temporary differences at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

Share Capital

The issued share capital as at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018
and 1 January 2019 represented the combined share capital of Pak
Fai and Ma Yau. Pak Fai was incorporated on 21 April 1989 with
a paid up capital of HK$300,000 divided into 300,000 shares. Ma
Yau was incorporated on 24 March 1997 with a paid up capital of
HK$300,000 divided into 300,000 shares.

The issued share capital as at 31 December 2019 represented the
share capital of the Company.
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23. Share Capital (Continued) 23. BRA (&)
Details of movement of the share capital of the Company are as RATRARHEBFELAT
follows:
Number
Notes of shares Amount
B gl 4= &8
HK$
BT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &}%0.01 8 CH) L 3@BA

Authorised: JEIE

At 30 January 2019 (date of R=F—hF—HA=+H

incorporation) (GEMASZEER) (a) 10,000,000 100,000

Increase in authorised share SETERRAIE INEA% 0.01 BT

capital of HK$0.01 each (c) 3,990,000,000 39,900,000

At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hFE+=-A=+-—H 4,000,000,000 40,000,000

Issued and fully paid: EZETRHE -

At date of incorporation TR B 5 (@) 1 =

New shares issued for the RZE—NF-_A=+//\H

Reorganisation MEBABIT 2D
on 28 February 2019 (b) 9,999 100

Capitalisation Issue B BT (©) 1,949,990,000 19,499,900

Issue of shares upon listing FiBETRD (d) 650,000,000 6,500,000

At 31 December 2019 R-ZB—-hE+=-A=+—H 2,600,000,000 26,000,000

i All shares issued rank pari passu therewith. i BN A EE R D ETRNZERFHAL

& The amount is less than HK$1. * RO IET -

Notes: HE :

(a) On 30 January 2019, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as (a) RZZE—NFE-—RA=1H ARARHSEH
an exempted company with limited liability, the authorised share capital of the SEMKZAEREER AR o Rz
Company was HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 shares of par value HK$0.01 B - RRARAERA A100,0008 7T 24
each at the time of incorporation. One nil-paid share was issued to the initial 10,000,000 B & AL TE{E0.01 /8 7T 2 B fn © —
subscriber and transferred to Wonderful Renown on the same date. AR ERE BEITTFORREA

I8 F Wonderful Renown ©
(b) On 28 February 2019, Wonderful Renown as vendor and the Company as (b) W=ZZ—h% =8 =+ /\H  Wonderful

purchaser entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Company acquired 1 ordinary share of par value US$1.00 of Autumn Well
(representing its only issued share) from Wonderful Renown. The consideration for
acquisition was satisfied by (i) the Company credited as fully paid at par the 1 nil-
paid share held by Wonderful Renown, and (ii) the Company issued and allotted
9,999 shares, credited as fully paid, to Wonderful Renown.

Renown ({EREH) BARN R (YEREF ) 51
B E % - B UL A2 B[ Wonderful Renown
Uiehi 1 BRTE{E 1.00 £ 7T H) Autumn Well 338 A%
(BNEM—BBITRG) - WESEZREER
FZARA &35 18 (i) # Wonderful Renown #5462
1 RABIRRIDIEEEARY ABHR - i)
A Bl EWonderful Renown2$7T K At 29,999
RRABRSI SR KRR D 5 A+t o
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year ended 31 December 2019 HZE —Z—

Share Capital (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0) On 22 July 2019, pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s sole shareholder,
the Company’s authorised share capital was increased from HK$100,000 to
HK$40,000,000 by the creation of an additional 3,990,000,000 shares of par value
HK$0.01 each. Further, the Company allotted and issued a total of 1,949,990,000
new ordinary shares credited as fully paid by way of capitalisation of a sum of
HK$19,499,900 to share premium of the Company (“Capitalisation Issue”) to
shareholders whose names appeared on the Company’s register of members on 22
July 2019.

(d) On 16 August 2019, the shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange.
650,000,000 ordinary shares (“Share Offer”) at an offer price of HK$0.2 per share
were issued upon listing.

All shares allotted and issued during the year rank pari passu in all
respect with the existing issued shares.

Retirement Benefit Plan

The Group participates in a MPF scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000 for
its qualified employees in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018, the Group contributes 5% of the eligible
employees’ salaries, with each employee’s qualifying salary capped at
HK$1,500 per month to the MPF scheme.

An amount of HK$591,000 (2018: HK$311,000) representing
contributions to the retirement benefits scheme by the Group, was
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Contributions of approximately HK$46,000 (2018: HK$36,000) were
accrued at 31 December 2019. The amounts were paid subsequent
to the end of the year.
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23.

24,

B2 ()

MisE : ()

(© —NFLtA=+=8 " BREAAAIM
*Hx%ﬂ’]ﬁi : 2% 0 iR 3B 3% 5% 3,990,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Commitments 25. A&
Operating lease commitments REHE RN
The Group as lessee KEFERAEA
At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for future RZZE—N\F+-_A=+—H  ~5H
minimum lease payments under non—cancellable operating leases in BHERERPRAYENTAIREELLHE
respect of warehouse and office premises which fall due as follows: EIE T ARRKEBEE N FEENBRIS
AR
2018
—E-)N\F
HK$000
T
Within one year —F A 96
The leases’ tenures are within one year. The lease payments are fixed HABMRAS—FA - HeRBHET -
over the lease term and no contingent rent provisions are included in BEAAWESHBHABRIEX -

the contracts.
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year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank overdrafts and bank borrowing, as disclosed in
Note 21, respectively, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Group, comprising share capital and
reserve. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirement.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of items
in the context of capital structure, and takes appropriate actions to
adjust the Group’s capital structure. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through continuity of funding of cash flows from operating activities
or raising new funds by new share issues as well as the issue of new
debts.

150 Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2019

26. EXERERE

RNEBEBEREEARUBRRE G REEE

g REABLEBRERTER

Kftﬂxﬁ@#& o REBMEBERBENE
BEFERFTIE -

REBONEARBHER FBAEK - B
RRIED BN E21 HENRITEL R
RITEFRERTEHRERSURAEE
EEEARGER (BRERANRER)
7R 2 B 48 2 PR AT AT SN SR e AN B B AR
HIE °

RRARERT R EARRE - ERL
R —HD  EREEEELNRES
@%J’%ﬁﬁiﬁizﬁﬁiﬁi%iﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁmﬂ

C WERBUEE WIS e B AEE R E
$ iE - REEFNER A58 /E
BREE I IFBREREE S IAH
BRETRETHEBENAABERED
FETH RSB NGRS o



27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Financial Instruments 27. €T H

Categories of financial instruments TRITEDE
2019 2018
—E-NF —ETN\E
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost HREEN AT ENEMEE 53,267 65,632
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEEN AT ENEREE 19,951 74,403

Financial risk management objectives and
policy

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, amount due from a director, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, bank overdrafts and bank
borrowing. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

R EE B ERBR

AEEeMIABRESREFA - B
ERBFIARIZE - BRESFA R
TRHBRLERE B NEMERNKIA -
RITBXRBITER - ZFERIA
HFIB D R ARREM TR EE - 2Rl
TEEBENRRBRET SRR (FXE
%) EEARLRBESER o WAk
EZSRBRNBRIEN T - EEEE
I8 I B 5% 5 A B DA R AR K B A R4t A
TTEEREE °
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27.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policy (Continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Management has assessed there is minimal exposure
of the interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest incurred on the
bank overdrafts and bank borrowing. It is the Group’s policy to raise
borrowing at fixed-rate or variable-rate according to business needs
and as to balance the fair value and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate risk exposure and
will consider interest rate hedging should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis on the interest risk arising from the variable—
rate bank overdrafts and bank borrowing is presented as the
amounts involved are insignificant. The management considered the
fluctuation on the prevailing market interest rate is minimal.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets and contract assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical location is
mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2018: 100%)
of the total financial assets and contract assets as at 31 December
2019.
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27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE—F

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policy (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Included in the Group’s financial assets as at 31 December 2019 is
bank balances amounted to HK$24,696,000 (2018: HK$18,123,000)
placed in a bank in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade receivables and
contract assets, as approximately 100% (2018: 95.5%) of total trade
receivables outstanding at 31 December 2019, and 82.3% (2018:
85.1%) of contract assets outstanding at 31 December 2019, were
due from top five customers.

Other than concentration of credit risk on the trade receivables,
contract assets and bank balances, the Group has no other
significant concentration risk on recognised financial assets with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow—up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group carries out research on the credit risk of the new customer
and assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed when
necessary.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables and contract assets individually. The Group
considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition on an ongoing basis.

27.
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27.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policy (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group reassesses the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
In this regard, directors of the Company considers that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract assets are
set out in Notes 15 and 18, respectively.

For other receivables and deposits and bank balances with gross
carrying amounts of HK$413,000 (2018: HK$171,000) and
HK$24,696,000 (2018: HK$18,123,000) respectively, the Group
has assessed and concluded that the expected credit loss rate for
these financial assets is immaterial under 12m ECL based on the
Group’s assessment on the risk of the default of the counterparties.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The directors concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition of the other receivables and deposits and bank
balances. Thus, no loss allowance for credit losses for the amounts
is recognised during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2019 as the Group assessed the ECL was insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policy (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition, it considers available reasonable and supportive forward
looking information, including the below indicators:

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in
meeting its financial obligations as and when they fall due. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity of the
Group and the Company for its non—derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on the relevant market rates as at the reporting date
where applicable) of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group or the Company can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows, where applicable.
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27. Financial Instruments (Continued) 27. ST E (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREREBERBCE ()
policy (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) ARBE R ()
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB-—NF+=-A=+—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or within undiscounted
interestrate 3 months 3t06 61012 1t05 Over  cashflow  Carrying
MERS  #Zkd  months  months years Syeas  AEERE  amount
fi®  WM3EAR 3E6ER  6ENER 1856 SENE  iBAE REE
% - HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSTO00
TAT FAT AT FAT 7T FAT AT
Non-interest bearing Fitg
Trade and other payables 85 R MERNTE N/A RER 16,136 - - - - 16,136 16,136
Interest bearing ig
Bank overclrafts iy 5.25 3815 - - - - 3815 3815
Total & 19,951 - - - - 19,951 19,951
As at 31 December 2018 R=-Z2-N\¥+-A=+—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average o within undiscounted
interestrate 3 months 3to6 61012 1t05 Over  cashflow  Carrying
MEYH  REXS  months  months years  Syears AEBEE  amount
Mz m3fERR  3Z6E@A 6En@A  1E5F SEML  REAE ]
% HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'O00  HKS000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T FAT 7T FAT FAT FAT FAT
Non-interest bearing Firg
Trade and other payables 85 REMERTE NA TEE 53,619 - - - - 53,619 53,619
Interest bearing g
Bank borrowing RitEE 297 5209 - - - - 5209 5200
Bank overdrafts FTER 5.25 15,575 - - - - 15,575 15,575
Total & 74,403 = = = = 714403 74,403

156 Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2019



27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policy (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank borrowing
with a repayment on demand clause based on the agreed scheduled
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using the specified fixed rate. As a
result, these amounts are greater than the amounts disclosed in the
“on demand or within 3 months” time band in the maturity analysis
above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the

27.

£RMIT A (&)
B E bR R B AR R IBR ()

RBEEEE (&)

TREABITEENDIOHN - %5
TTIEFRIA B R R T8 e 5T &15&
H R BT Y P 75 1 B SIOE FUGRAK -
B REERFT AR E R X ERF S
R e Bt - ZERERR L2 H5
PN TR 2SR 38 A A | BB AT
BODE - EEIANKENT AN -

ha

R 4B
2

ARPEZR/BARRITH AR REST
FEERBERRAFER - ARRES
BEZFRITIEE SR BEE K a3 At
ZETBIEFR A HER -

directors of the Company do not consider that it is probable that the
bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowing will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements.

Maturity Analysis - Term loans subject to a repayment on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments
HHAH - UGt BB AER AN B RERBERZ AR NEHER

Total
undiscounted
0090 3t06 6012 1t05 Over5  cash flows Carrying
days months months years years KERRE amount
02908 3%Z6fIA 6Z12{8A 185% SENE RELH SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TEx
As at 31 December 2018 R=F—\F+=-A=1+—8 1,442 3,845 = = = 5,287 5,209
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year ended 31 December 2019 HZE —Z—
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Financial Instruments (Continued) 27. T A (&)
Fair value NFE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial AEBWFERKLEHELELNFE
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on recurring TENETREEREREBENAT
basis TE
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined HEERGHBENATEIEESR
in accordance with generally accepted pricing model based on fﬁ MESTRIBEARTEEAETE -
discounted cash flow analysis.
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RRBEEZRA  REEMBHRERPIR
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in BIENTIENeREERERBEN
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair value. FREEHEEATERE
Related Party Transactions 28. BHEARS
Apart from disclosure elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRARERE I m & Eﬁﬂ HommEE
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions with G REBREBEZE T —NE+ A
related parties during the year ended 31 December 2019: =+ —HIFEEEH Hﬁpa I AT AR
5
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Short-term lease expense for renting AR A — B R RRIAE LN E
office premises from a controlling W ZHHER
shareholder of the Company
Mr. Adam Cheung SR 189 -
189 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The directors of the Company are also key management personnel
of the Group whose remunerations are disclosed in Note 10. Other
than that, the remuneration of a close family member of a director
of the Company and other members of key management personnel
of the Group during the year was as follows:

28. MBS XS (&)

ARRER(TRAKREEREEASR)
B R BN BB RE 10 © BRUItEZ 5N - A
ARREEFORRERERAEETE
EEABHMKENFMAOT

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short term benefits 2 BAfE A 1,871 204
Post-employment benefits BEH 2R 52 8
1,923 212
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29. Particulars of Subsidiaries

As at the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements,
the Company has direct or indirect equity interests in the following

subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary
MWEARER

Directly held:
BEHE

Autumn Well

Indirectly held:
R -

Pak Fai
)

Ma Yau
SR

Creative Panda

Vantage Charm

All subsidiaries now comprising the Group adopted 31 December as
their financial year end date except for Ma Yau which has 31 March

Issued
Place and and fully
date of paid capital
incorporation ERTR
SRR AL 3t B K A BERZAK
BVI Us$1
RERUHE (=
26 October 2018
—T-N\FtAZ+RH
Hong Kong HK$300,000
B 300,000/87T
21 April 1989
— N/ NEOA=+—H
Hong Kong HK$300,000
BE 300,000 7T
24 March 1997
—ANEEFE=A=+mA
BVI Us$1
RERUHE 1£7T
26 October 2018
—T-N\FtAZ+RH
BVI Us$1
RERUHE 1£7T
26 October 2018

—T-\Ft+H=-tXH

as its financial year end date.
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RTBEAMBHRRAY - ARRRT
5IIP B A ] R B Sk R s

Equity interest

attributable to
the owners of the Group
FEBEBABERAER
2019 2018
—E-NE —2-N\E
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities
TEERTED

Investment holding
REER

Provision of wet trades
works services

REEK IR

Provision of wet trades
works services
feftek T2 pRAs

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding
REER

AEBIREE T A MERFIERE
T A=+ BEAREZIMBFES
BB HESARERK=A=+—8BER

HMBEEAEA -
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Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from  30.

Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non—cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing

BMERHELEEBZHER

TRAFMBERDEEZAEB ARG
28 BRASLIREED  BER
BEACABENREREXRKIRESR
ERRAKEGARERERDIBRR
BRBAEREREZEE -

activities.
Accrued
share
Bank Bank issue costs
borrowing  overdrafts i) Total
RITEE RITEX BITRA st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FRET FET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-—N\F—H—H - - - -
Financing cash flows MERENE 5,209 15,575 (315) 20,469
Non-cash changes FREEF)

Issue costs recognised ERRBITA - - 576 576
At 31 December 2018 R-ZTE—N\F+_A=1+—H 5,209 15,575 261 21,045
Financing cash flows MERENE (5,209) (11,760) (20,075) (37,044)
Non-cash changes FREEF)

Issue costs recognised BRI T A = = 19,814 19,814
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZE-hE+=-A=+—H - 3,815 - 3,815
Performance Bonds 31. BHRES

As at 31 December 2018, performance bonds of HK$3,603,000
were given by a bank in favour of the Group’s customers as security
for the due performance and observance of the Group’s obligations
under the contracts entered into between the Group and its
customers. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to
its customers to whom performance bonds have been given, such
customers may demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum
stipulated in such demand. In the event of the non—performance,
the Group will only become liable to compensate such customers
for any performance obligation over and above the performance
bond amounts given to them, the performance guarantees will be
released upon completion of the contracts. No performance bonds
are outstanding as at 31 December 2019.

RZZE—N\F+-_A=+—H ' —fHIR
TUARERF AZm ARHBORE
$3,603,0008 7T tEAASEZS
TRBTHEEFPMIIVNANENER
MR - WAEENELNBRIRES
BEBARBCHNEPME  EBEP
A ERBITENEESERABERE]
PSR - WEEKRBITER  AKEH
BEEEERERAEERPERNEL
RESCSBENBOEMIELHE - BLO
BERENREHNTHERR - R=T—N1
F+ZA=+—H BEAREENE
HIREBESE -

o
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32. Statement of Financial Position and 32. RAFMERRERREE
Reserves of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the EEAARRBIRRERAR I BARREK 2
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2019
—E-hF
HK$'000
FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHB AR Z&RE =%
Amount due from a subsidiary JE s — R Bt B Bl kI8 67,668
67,668
Current asset REEE
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 24,558
Total assets BREE 92,226
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Share capital [N 26,000
Reserves it 66,226
92,226
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32. Statement of Financial Position and

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE=ZZT—NF+=A=+—HILFE

Reserves of the Company (Continued)

32. RRQAIMBEMRRRE HE
(48)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RAEZ EESRRnT
Share Accumulated
Premium losses Total
B E Z5TEE et
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 30 January 2019 RZZT—NF—HA=+1H
(date of incorporation) (FEMACSZ B ER) = - -
Loss and total comprehensive HANEE R E RS AR
expense for the period - (17,384) (17,384)
Issue of shares under the BB E M BEITEITIRGD
Capitalisation Issue (MF3E23(c))
(Note 23(c)) (19,500) - (19,500)
Issue of shares under the RIFRR D B E TGN
Share Offer (Note 23(d)) (P 23(d)) 123,500 - 123,500
Transaction cost attributable BITHR D FEIE R 2 A
to issue of new shares (20,390) - (20,390)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—hFE+=ZA=+—H 83,610 (17,384) 66,226
* The amount is less than HK$1,000. & &5 1,000/87T ©

Subsequent Events

The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19") in early
2020 and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the
Hong Kong government has had no material impact on the Group's

operation.

The directors of the Company are monitoring the situation and
continue to assess and react actively to the impact of COVID-19
outbreak on the Group’s operations, financial position and financial

performance accordingly.

33. Hig=1\

T TR FYEENTATRRS
([COVID-19]) LA R B B IR BE 14 BREXAY
T8 R 1 e 30 7N B B ) A 8 D B E A T
BATE -

AR EFERYVBESRHEER I
HETHIBEECOVID-19 B AREFH
B BBHRARMBEREOERTZE R
YEL BB EET
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MG E

A Summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group ~ A HIRERNME B EEXMERERES
for the last four financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the ~ FIUEMBFEZ AEEEENREE  BER
published audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does Az ZE N T o AN Z W A B AL T IZ 5T

not form part of the audited financial statements. Bk —Ho -
Results E4
2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-NF —EF-)N\F —E2—+tF —F—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FETL
Revenue Wz 558,137 431,819 245,034 151,978
Gross profit EF 70,183 52,866 27,945 16,023
Listing expenses s 17,586 2,024 = =
Profit for the year attributable to KARERFE A
equity holders of the Company FEAEF =& A 35,826 40,321 21,270 11,394
= TLPL] = S 22
Assets, Liabilities and Equity BE  BERES
2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-hEF —E-N\F —E—+F —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°'000
FET FETT FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 13,919 7,918 6,496 5,865
Current assets MENEE 248,024 153,146 75,456 41,601
Total assets BEE 261,943 161,064 81,952 47,466
Current liabilities mENEE 40,236 84,937 45,129 31,918
Net current assets mEEEFE 207,788 68,209 30,327 9,683
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRDEE 221,707 76,127 36,823 15,548
Net assets BEFE 221,437 76,001 36,541 15,271
Equity attributable to equity holders AR RI#EZHFE A
of the Company FE(GRERS 221,437 76,001 36,541 15,271
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